Department of Bacteriology and Immunology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Severe Campylobacter infections in Finland

Benjamin Feodoroff

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki, in the Auditorium XII, third floor in the main building of the University, Unioninkatu 34, Helsinki, on March 23 2012, at 12 noon.

Supervisor

Professor Hilpi Rautelin, MD, PhD Department of Medical Sciences Clinical Bacteriology University of Uppsala and University Hospital Uppsala, Sweden and Department of Bacteriology and Immunology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Reviewers

Docent Heikki Kauma, MD, PhD Oulu University Hospital Oulu, Finland

Docent Risto Vuento, MD, PhD Fimlab Laboratoriot Oy Tampere, Finland

To be discussed with

Professor Henrik Nielsen, MD, DMSci Head of Department Department of Infectious Diseases Aalborg Hospital, Aarhus University Hospitals Aalborg, Denmark

ISBN 978-952-10-7887-3 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-7888-0 (PDF) Helsinki University Printing House Helsinki 2012

Table of contents

Ab	breviations	5	
Ab	ostract	6	
Lis	st of original publications	8	
1.	Introduction	9	
2.	Review of the literature	11	
	2.1. Historical aspects	11	
	2.2. Bacteriology	11	
	2.2.1.General description	11	
	2.2.2.Typing methods	12	
	2.3. Pathogenesis and virulence factors	13	
	2.4. Epidemiology	16	
	2.4.1.General aspects	16	
	2.4.2.Sources of infection	17	
	2.4.3. Geographical aspects of Campylobacter infection	18	
	2.4.4.Outbreaks	19	
	2.5. Diagnostic methods	19	
	2.6. Antimicrobial susceptibility	21	
	2.6.1.Antimicrobial susceptibility testing	21	
	2.6.2. Antimicrobial susceptibility and resistance among Campylobacter	21	
	2.7. Clinical aspects of Campylobacter infection	24	
	2.7.1.Enteritis	24	
	2.7.2.Bacteremia	25	
	2.7.3.Other extra-intestinal infections	27	
	2.7.4.Guillain-Barré syndrome	27	
	2.7.5.Other sequelae	28	
	2.7.6.Treatment	28	
	2.7.7.Immunological aspects	29	
	2.7.8.General health burden and cost	31	
3.	Aims of the study	32	
4.	Materials and methods	33	
	4.1. Patient data	33	
	4.1.1. Campylobacter enteritis patients (I, II)	33	
	4.1.2. Campylobacter bacteremia patients (III, IV)	34	
	4.2. Bacterial isolates	37	

	4.2.1.Species identification	. 37
	4.2.2.Genotyping	. 37
	4.2.3. Antimicrobial susceptibility	. 38
	4.2.4. Virulence factors	. 39
	4.2.5.Serum resistance	. 40
	4.3. Statistical analyses	. 41
	4.4. Ethical considerations	. 41
5.	Results	. 42
	5.1. Patient data	. 42
	5.1.1.Overview of patient characteristics	. 42
	5.1.2. Foreign travel before onset of illness	. 45
	5.1.3.Clinical signs and symptoms	. 45
	5.1.4.Hospital treatment	. 47
	5.1.5.Antimicrobial treatment	. 47
	5.1.6.Outcome of illness	. 48
	5.2. Bacterial isolates	. 50
	5.2.1.Genotype distribution	. 50
	5.2.2.Antimicrobial susceptibility	. 52
	5.2.3.Putative virulence factors (II, IV)	. 54
	5.2.4.Serum resistance (IV)	. 56
6.	Discussion	. 58
	6.1. Effect of ciprofloxacin resistance on outcome of C. jejuni or C. coli infection (I, III)	. 58
	6.2. Virulence factor profiles of <i>C. jejuni</i> isolates (II, IV)	. 59
	6.3. Patient characteristics and treatment aspects of Campylobacter bacteremia patients (III)	. 60
	6.4. Clonal distribution, LOS locus classification, and serum susceptibility among <i>C. jejuni</i> bacteremia isolates (IV)	. 61
7.	Conclusions	. 63
8.	References	. 64
9.	Acknowledgements	. 82
10.	Original publications	. 84

Abbreviations

American Type Culture Collection
Campylobacter coli
Campylobacter fetus
Campylobacter jejuni
clonal complex
cytolethal distending toxin
colony forming unit
Campylobacter invasion antigen B
Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute
deoxyribonucleic acid
European Food Safety Authority
European Union
European Committee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing
Guillain-Barré syndrome
γ-glutamyl transpeptidase
heat labile
heat stabile
irritable bowel syndrome
immunoglobulin
lipooligosaccharide
minimal inhibitory concentration
multilocus sequence typing
National Infectious Disease Register
polymerase chain reaction
pulsed-field gel electrophoresis
Phospholipase A
quality control
species
Statistical Package for Social Sciences
sequence type
Toll-like receptor

Abstract

Campylobacter jejuni and *C. coli* are among the most important bacterial enteropathogens worldwide, and the last decade *Campylobacter* infections in the European Union (EU) have shown a rising trend in incidence. The most commonly reported zoonosis in the EU, campylobacteriosis, can be transmitted to humans from a wide variety of wild birds, as well as from domestic and pet animals. Eating or handling raw or undercooked meat, particularly poultry, is considered the primary risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection, followed by other risk factors such as drinking unpasteurized milk or contaminated water, contact with domestic pets, and swimming in natural water sources.

The enteric disease caused by *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* is characterized by profuse watery diarrhea, fever, abdominal pain, nausea, and sometimes bloody stools. The disease usually lasts from a few days up to one week, and although *Campylobacter* infection usually resolves spontaneously without antimicrobial treatment, prolonged symptomatic periods and relapses do occur.

A complication that commonly follows and is attributed to *Campylobacter* infection is reactive arthritis, which occurs in approximately 1 to 10% of the patients. Closely associated with *C. jejuni* infection is also the more rarely encountered serious inflammatory polyneuropathy Guillain-Barré syndrome. Bacteremia due to *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* has been estimated to develop in 0.1 to 1% of patients with campylobacteriosis, and hematogenously spread disease is considered more common in older patients and those with severe underlying diseases.

The bacterial characteristics of *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* which could lead to a more severe course of disease, to bacteremia, or to post-infectious complications are not well understood. Certain putative virulence factors have been suggested to be of importance for either the invasiveness or the colonization potential of *C. jejuni*, some examples of which are the plasmid pVir, *Campylobacter* invasion antigen, and γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT). Other examples of putative virulence factors include those suspected to affect the bacterium's iron uptake, survival or metabolism. Moreover, because of the seriousness of Guillain-Barré syndrome, development of post-infectious adverse immune responses has been subject to specific focus, and structural differences in the lipooligosaccharide in the outer membrane of *C. jejuni* have been under extensive study. The relevance of these bacterial factors to the actual clinical disease outcome has yet to be explained, however, possibly with the exception of the relatively clear association between sialylated lipooligosaccharides and the development of the Guillain-Barré syndrome. The primary goal of this PhD study was therefore to try to define which bacterial factors could lead to a more severe outcome of *Campylobacter* infection.

Two sets of patient data, along with the corresponding bacterial isolates of those patients, were included. The first was questionnaire-based, and collected from the Uusimaa region in southern Finland during July through December, 2006. The 192 patients included had been diagnosed as stool culture-positive for *C. jejuni* or *C. coli*, and all returned their questionnaires along with their informed consent. The second set of data was retrospective,

nationwide, and register-based, and included 76 patients diagnosed with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia during a 10-year period in Finland, 1998-2007.

The isolates from patients with enteritis were tested for antimicrobial susceptibility, the presence of putative virulence factor genes, and the production of GGT. Multilocus sequence typing (MLST) as well as determination of susceptibility to normal human serum was performed on the isolates from the patients with bacteremia. All *C. jejuni* isolates were tested for production of GGT, and in addition, the presence of the following putative virulence factor genes was tested by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) for all isolates; *ceuE*, *ciaB*, *cj*0486, and *vir*B11, and additionally the gene cluster *cdt*ABC and the genes *cgt*B, *pld*A, and *wla*N for the enteritis isolates. For the bacteremia isolates, PCR analyses allowed determination of the MLST profiles and lipooligosaccharide (LOS) locus classes of the isolates.

Results of multivariate analyses revealed bacterial differences based on the origin of infection among the enteritis isolates, as domestically acquired infections were significantly associated with the production of GGT, while imported infections were significantly associated with *ceu*E and *cj*0486.

Susceptibilities of the bacterial isolates were tested for those antimicrobial agents most commonly used in the treatment of *Campylobacter* infections, and when these data were compared with the clinical information, some interesting findings emerged. First, among the patients with enteritis, bacterial resistance to ciprofloxacin did not seem to lead to more severe disease outcome. Instead, this was specifically attributed more to those isolates highly susceptible to ciprofloxacin. Second, the majority of the bacteremia isolates were susceptible to all tested antimicrobial agents. Third, among the patients with bacteremia, appropriate and empirical antimicrobial treatment affected neither patients' duration of hospitalization nor the mortality attributable to the infection, to any greater extent.

The *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* bacteremia patients were moderately young (median age, 46 years) and according to the Charlson weighted index of comorbidity, underlying diseases regarded as comorbidities significantly affecting disease outcome affected only 30%.

Among the bacteremia isolates, MLST revealed the clonal complexes ST-677, ST-45, and ST-21 to be the most prevalent, accounting for 48%, 16%, and 14%, of the isolates. All the isolates of the ST-677 complex originated from patients diagnosed with *C. jejuni* bacteremia during the seasonal peak in May through August; these isolates were significantly more serum resistant than were all other isolates, and all isolates of the ST-677 complex had nonsialylated LOS. Isolates of the ST-45 complex were associated with production of GGT and were significantly more serum sensitive than were all other isolates, and all the ST-45 complex isolates had nonsialylated LOS. Isolates of the ST-21 complex were associated with the gene *cj*0486, and all these isolates had sialylated LOS.

List of original publications

This thesis is based on the following publications:

- I. Feodoroff FB, Lauhio AR, Sarna SJ, Hänninen ML, Rautelin HI. Severe diarrhoea caused by highly ciprofloxacin-susceptible *Campylobacter* isolates. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2009;15:188-192.
- II. Feodoroff B, Ellström P, Hyytiäinen H, Sarna S, Hänninen ML, Rautelin H. *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates in Finnish patients differ according to the origin of infection. Gut Pathog. 2010;2:22.
- III. Feodoroff B, Lauhio A, Ellström P, Rautelin H. A nationwide study of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* bacteremia in Finland over a 10year period, 1998-2007, with special reference to clinical characteristics and antimicrobial susceptibility. Clin Infect Dis 2011;53:e99-e106.
- IV. Feodoroff B, de Haan CPA, Ellström P, Sarna S, Hänninen ML, Rautelin H. Clonal distribution and virulence properties of blood culture isolates of *Campylobacter jejuni* with special reference to clinical features. Submitted.

The publications are indicated in the text by their Roman numerals. The original articles have been reprinted with the permission from their copyright holders.

1. Introduction

In most parts of the world *Campylobacter* infection is common, with campylobacteriosis being the most frequently reported zoonosis in the European Union, as well as the most prevalent cause of bacterial enteritis in Europeans (EFSA, 2005; EFSA, 2009). Raw or undercooked meat, especially poultry, is considered the primary source of infection (Harris et al., 1986; Neal & Slack, 1995; Studahl & Andersson, 2000). In addition, contaminated drinking water (Schönberg-Norio et al., 2004), domestic pet contact (Kapperud et al., 1992; Friedman et al., 2004), and even swimming in natural sources of water (Schönberg-Norio et al., 2004) are important risk factors for *Campylobacter* infection.

The typical symptoms of *Campylobacter* enteritis include diarrhea, fever, abdominal cramps and pain, which sometimes may become so intense that it even mimics the pain during acute appendicitis (Blaser, 1997). Blood and mucus in the stools are also quite common, and some patients experience myalgia or nausea and sometimes, vomiting (Butzler & Skirrow, 1979). Bloody stools and vomiting have been regarded as more severe symptoms of *Campylobacter* infection (Gillespie et al., 2006).

Of the species of *Campylobacter*, *C. jejuni*, *C. coli* and *C. fetus* are of special clinical interest. *C. jejuni* is the most commonly isolated bacterial enteropathogen from stool samples of patients with diarrhea, and *C. coli* is the second most prevalent *Campylobacter* spp. isolated from enteritis patients. *C. fetus* is usually not isolated from fecal samples, but it causes extraintestinal infections, particularly in immunocompromised hosts, and it is sometimes isolated from blood (Lastovica & Allos, 2008).

Campylobacter bacteremia is uncommon, as it occurs in only approximately 0.1 to 1% of patients with *Campylobacter* enteritis (Skirrow et al., 1993; Samuel et al., 2004; Nielsen et al., 2010a), and is usually neither a septic nor a life-threatening condition in patients without significant underlying diseases (Pigrau et al., 1997; Tee & Mijch, 1998). Mortality attributable to the bacteremic episode has ranged from 4 to 16% in previous studies (Reed et al., 1996; Pigrau et al., 1997; Tee & Mijch, 1998; Pacanowski et al., 2008; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010; Nielsen et al., 2010a). The distribution of *C. jejuni, C. fetus* and *C. coli* in bacteremia differs to some extent among studies, and the exact distribution of these species is unknown, as identification of the isolates by molecular methods is usually lacking.

Bacterial factors affecting the severity and outcome of *Campylobacter* infection are not well recognized. Some putative virulence factors may be of importance, including the cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) which causes cell cycle arrest (Lara-Tejero & Galán, 2001), γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), which plays a role in colonization in animal models (Hofreuter et al., 2006; Barnes et al., 2007), lipooligosaccharide (LOS), certain factors of which may enhance bacterial fitness (Habib et al., 2009), the fucose permease *cj*0486 (Fearnley et al., 2008; Stahl et al., 2011), and the disputed plasmid pVir (Tracz et al., 2005; Louwen et al., 2006) which may affect the invasive capability of *C. jejuni*.

Treatment of *Campylobacter* infection with antimicrobial agents is common in many countries, although the overall effect of antimicrobial treatment seems limited (Ternhag et al., 2007).

In order to better understand which bacterial factors could be of importance for the outcome of *Campylobacter* infection or the severity of symptoms in the human host, it is important to combine well-defined clinical materials with analyses of the characteristics of the bacterial isolates. The aim of this PhD thesis was to study whether any specific factors exist which may lead to more severe *Campylobacter* infections.

2. Review of the literature

2.1 Historical aspects

Although the appropriate taxonomy of *Campylobacter* was introduced in the 1970's, bacteria belonging to this genus were actually first described by Theodor Escherich in 1886, a fact elegantly pointed out by Butzler along with a summary of some other important historical perspectives regarding the recognition of *Campylobacter* as a significant human pathogen (Butzler, 2004). In short, the genus name Vibrio was first suggested by Smith and Taylor in the beginning of the 20th century for these spirillum-like bacteria. In addition to the type species, Vibrio fetus, other catalase-positive "related vibrios" (King, 1957) were recognized as human pathogens in the 1950's. The cornerstones for recognizing the clinical importance of these "vibrios", the term used for *Campylobacter* through the first half of the 20th century, were the isolation of "Vibrio fetus" from the blood of a pregnant woman with fever (Vinzent et al., 1947), the isolation of a "related vibrio" from human feces (Dekayser et al., 1972), and the development of a selective culture medium in order to simplify the isolation of Campylobacter from feces (Skirrow, 1977). These three important scientific achievements revealed that Campylobacter is a pathogenic genus which can be detected and isolated from both the blood and fecal samples of humans with a range of different clinical symptoms. After introduction of the term Campylobacter, Greek for 'curved rod' (Sebald & Véron, 1963; Véron & Chatelain, 1973), and once the technique needed for isolation from fecal samples was known (Skirrow, 1977), Campylobacter enteritis was recognized and described as an important human disease (Butzler & Skirrow, 1979; Blaser & Reller 1981).

Campylobacter has since been generally accepted as a clinically relevant zoonosis and an important human enteropathogen, with an incidence of campylobacteriosis estimated as higher than that of many other bacterial pathogens which cause febrile gastroenteritis.

2.2 Bacteriology

2.2.1 General description

Campylobacter spp. are Gram-negative, oxidase-positive, microaerophilic bacteria, which typically have a curved shape and are between 0.5 and 5 μ m long and 0.2 to 0.8 μ m wide (Snelling et al., 2005). Motility, essentially rapid, darting movements within the mucosal layer of the gastrointestinal tract, is enabled by either a single polar flagellum at one end, or a single flagellum at each end of the bacterium. *Campylobacter* spp. belong to the class of ε -proteobacteria, along with *Arcobacter* spp., *Helicobacter* spp., and *Wolinella* spp. In total, there are at least 18 species of *Campylobacter* (Humphrey et al., 2007), of which three are especially important human pathogens; *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* typically cause

enteritis, and *Campylobacter fetus* is commonly known to cause bloodstream infections (Guerrant et al., 1978; Schmidt et al., 1980; Francioli et al., 1985; Gazaigne et al, 2008).

C. jejuni and *C. coli* are thermophilic (optimal temperature for growth 42°C), whereas *C. fetus* is not generally able to survive at 42°C. *Campylobacter* spp. do not utilize carbohydrates, which limits the use of biochemical tests in differential diagnostics between species. *C. jejuni* is usually able to hydrolyze hippurate, while *C. coli* is hippurate-negative, and a hippurate hydrolysis test can be performed to differentiate between *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* isolates, although misidentification may occur due to the existence of *C. jejuni* strains which lack the ability to hydrolyze hippurate (Totten et al., 1987; Siemer et al., 2005). Two separate Finnish studies suggest that the species of at least all the hippurate-negative isolates should be confirmed with PCR (Rautelin et al., 1999; Nakari et al., 2008). It has also been suggested that *C. jejuni* may have occurred as recently as within the past 12 000 years (Wilson et al., 2009), and this further highlights the close relatedness of the two species. The genomes of several *C. jejuni* strains have been sequenced (Parkill et al., 2000; Fouts et al., 2005; Hofreuter et al., 2006; Lefébure & Stanhope, 2009).

Campylobacter will here be used to refer to C. jejuni and C. coli, unless otherwise stated.

2.2.2 Typing methods

Phenotyping methods

Before the development of reliable genotyping methods, phenotyping of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* was usually performed by either of the two well-evaluated serotyping schemes: the Penner scheme (Penner & Hennessey, 1980) based on heat-stable (HS) antigens, and the Lior scheme (Lior et al., 1982), based on heat-labile (HL) antigens. The limitations of serotyping methods include high numbers of untypable strains and technical restrictions due to a lack of reagents and time-consuming and costly techniques.

Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis

Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis (PFGE) is a genotyping method in which certain restriction enzymes enable digestion and subsequently separation of comparatively large DNA fragments through a gel matrix with a specific kind of gel electrophoresis; it has been of practical use in epidemiological studies (Yan et al., 1991). PFGE allows creation of genetic fingerprint patterns for comparing genotypes and is more discriminatory than is multilocus sequence typing (MLST) (Thakur et al, 2009), although comparing PFGE profiles from various laboratories has proven difficult. Another problem is that PFGE sometimes fails to type isolates (Wassenaar & Newell, 2000). In Finland, certain PFGE types predominate in human and chicken isolates (Hänninen et al., 2000). PFGE has been used successfully in many outbreak studies (Lehner et al., 2000; Olsen et al., 2001, Hänninen et al., 2003).

Multilocus sequence typing

MLST is a genotyping method by which sequencing of seven housekeeping loci in the *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* genomes enable determination of the specific sequence type (ST) for a bacterial isolate (Maiden et al., 1998; Dingle et al., 2001). The seven housekeeping genes for the *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* MLST are *aspA*, *glnA*, *gltA*, *glyA*, *pgm*, *tkt*, and *uncA*, and the combined allele profile of these genes determine the ST of the bacterium. ST clonal complexes (ST CCs) consist of STs with at least four alleles in common with the founder genotype. The primary advantage of this sequence-based method, compared to PFGE, is that the results of different laboratories can be easily compared, and MLST data from different study groups are accessible and comparable online (http://pubmlst.org/campylobacter/).

Other genotyping methods

Flagellin typing (*fla* typing) is based on restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis or sequencing of the flagellin gene locus (Nachamkin et al., 1993a), with both highly conserved and variable regions (Meinersmann et al., 1997). The lack of international standardization and comparability between laboratories, however, restricts this method's wider use (Wassenaar & Newell, 2000). More recently, sequence-based *fla* typing has become an additional part of MLST typing (Korczak et al., 2009).

Ribotyping is a genotyping method involving agarose gel electrophoresis of digested genomic DNA and Southern blot hybridization with a probe specific for rRNA genes. The major disadvantage of this technique is its lower discriminatory power, compared to that of other genotyping techniques.

Many other genotyping methods have been developed as well, but these methods are less widely used.

2.3 Pathogenesis and virulence factors

In order to successfully colonize the human intestinal tract, campylobacters need mechanisms for surviving in adverse environments and initiating chemotaxis, as well as structural and metabolic functions enabling bacterial motility (Nachamkin et al., 1993b), epithelial adhesion, cell invasion, iron acquisition, and toxin production (Ketley, 1997). Although several putative virulence and survival factors may be important for *Campylobacter* pathogenesis, the relevance of these particular genes and the proteins they encode for, considering the severity and outcome of campylobacteriosis, is generally poorly known.

The relation between the pVir plasmid in *C. jejuni* and the severity of infection can serve to demonstrate the complexity of putative virulence factors. It has been suggested that the pVir plasmid encodes for proteins of a type IV secretion system, and that mutation of the *vir*B11 gene in the plasmid results in reduced adherence and invasion potential *in vitro* as well as less severe symptoms *in vivo* (Bacon et al., 2000). Studies have shown both an association (Tracz

et al., 2005), and a lack of association (Louwen et al., 2006) between the pVir plasmid and bloody diarrhea in *C. jejuni* enteritis. pVir has typically only been detected in a minority of the strains however (Tracz et al., 2005; Louwen et al., 2006), and the gene *vir*B11 has in one study even been non-existent among *C. jejuni* strains (Talukder et al., 2008). This raises the question whether pVir can actually be considered an important virulence factor at all.

The motility of *Campylobacter* is enabled by the flagella at the end of the bacterium, allowing it to "move with quite astonishing speed up and down mucus stands" (Lee et al., 1986). The flagellar filament is composed of a major flagellin, FlaA, and a minor flagellin, FlaB, encoded by the genes *flaA* and *flaB* (Guerry et al., 1991; Alm et al., 1993). A special trait of ε -proteobacteria is that their flagella are glycosylated, and the flagella of *Campylobacter* have other functions in addition to enabling bacterial motility, such as the secretion of proteins which affect its virulence (Guerry, 2007). Recently, a link between *C. jejuni* flagella assembly and the biogenesis of lipooligosaccharide (LOS) on the outer core of *C. jejuni* emerged because the transferase Cj0256 modifies both these structures (Cullen & Trent, 2010).

Some putative virulence proteins are secreted from the flagellar export apparatus, for example *Campylobacter* invasion antigen B (CiaB), encoded by the *cia*B gene (Konkel et al., 2004). *C. jejuni* isolates which lack the *cia*B gene have non-invasive phenotypes (Konkel et al., 1999; Ziprin et al., 2001). On the other hand, a negative correlation has also been detected between *cia*B and invasiveness (Fearnley et al., 2008).

Lipopolysaccharides may be necessary for both adhesion to and the invasion of epithelial cells (Fry et al., 2000). Some LOS structures in *C. jejuni* resemble human neuronal gangliosides. This molecular mimicry has been hypothesized to lead to autoimmune responses in the human host, including the most important neurological complication after *C. jejuni* infection, the Guillain-Barré syndrome (GBS) (Mishu et al., 1993; Rees et al., 1995). The putative virulence genes *cgt*B (Gilbert et al., 2000) and *wla*N (Linton et al., 2000) are involved in the biosynthesis of LOS, and may encode for β -1, 3-galactosyltransferases with identical enzymatic activities (Linton et al., 2000; Gilbert et al., 2002). Evidence suggests that *C. jejuni* isolates with sialylated LOS are more invasive than nonsialylated isolates (Habib et al., 2009), and GBS-associated *C. jejuni* isolates have been associated with sialylated LOS (Koga et al., 2006).

The gene cj0486 which encodes for a fucose permease (Stahl et al., 2011) may be associated with certain hyperinvasive *C. jejuni* strains (Fearnley et al., 2008). In addition, many other genes identified in the *C. jejuni* genome (Javed et al., 2010) are associated with metabolism and survival; their clinical relevance is unknown.

Phospholipase A (PldA), encoded by gene *pldA*, has been suggested to have a role in the lysis of erythrocytes by *C. coli*, and it has therefore been proposed to be a putative virulence factor of *Campylobacter* (Grant et al., 1997). Further, an enterochelin binding lipoprotein, CeuE, which enables uptake of ferric siderophore, produced by other enteric bacteria, has been detected in *C. coli* (Richardson & Park, 1995). The *Campylobacter* enterochelin uptake (ceu) operon, *ceu*BCDE, encodes for a periplasmic binding-protein-dependent (PBT) system,

which is thought to be important for iron uptake especially during tissue invasion (Richardson & Park, 1995; Ketley, 1997), and the gene *ceu*E encodes for CeuE, an important part of the PBT system.

Cytolethal distending toxin (CDT) is encoded by three genes, *cdt*A, *cdt*B, and *cdt*C, all of which have to function in order to enable the tripartite toxin to cause cell cycle arrest and distention of the cytoplasm in eukaryotic cells (Lara-Tejero & Galán, 2001). In a recent study from Bangladesh, CDT production was detected in almost all *C. jejuni* stool sample isolates (Talukder et al., 2008).

There is strong data that γ -glutamyl transpeptidase (GGT), encoded by the *ggt* gene, has a role in glutathione and glutamine metabolism in *C. jejuni* (Hofreuter et al., 2008). GGT activity has been shown to be required for persistant colonization of the avian gut (Barnes et al., 2007), and a *ggt* mutant has been shown to have lesser colonization potential compared to the wild-type *C. jejuni* 81-176 strain in a murine model (Hofreuter et al., 2006). The major limitation in both avian and murine models, when studying the importance of putative virulence factors, is that only colonization can be reliably studied, as *Campylobacter* infection in these animals is typically either asymptomatic or atypical (Haddad et al., 2010). The presence of *ggt* has been shown to be less common in bovine *C. jejuni* strains, compared to avian or human *C. jejuni* strains (Gonzalez et al., 2009).

Other proposed putative virulence factors include CheY (Yao et al., 1997), supposedly involved in bacterial chemotaxis and motility, PEB1 involved in adherence to, the invasion of, as well as colonization of HeLa cells (Pei et al., 1998), and the CadF protein has been proposed to be important for adhesion (Konkel et al., 1997). Alternate iron-acquisition systems have been described as well, for example *chuABCD*, and the FeoB protein, but the relevance of these systems for the uptake of iron by *Campylobacter* is still unclear. Possible virulence factors of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* are shown in Table 1.

gene	virulence factor	function	reference
<i>cad</i> F	CadF	adhesion	Konkel et al., 1997
<i>cdt</i> ABC	CDT	bacterial toxin	Johnson & Lior, 1988
<i>ceu</i> BCDE	PBT system	iron acquisition	Richardson & Park, 1995
cheY	CheY	chemotaxis	Yao et al, 1997
chuA	heme transport	iron acquisition	Ridley et al., 2006
<i>cia</i> B	CiaB	invasion	Konkel et al., 1999
<i>cj</i> 0256	transferase	modification of LOS	Cullen & Trent, 2010
		and flagellae	
<i>cj</i> 0486	putative sugar transporter	metabolism	Fearnley et al., 2008;
			Stahl et al., 2011
<i>iam</i> A	invasion-associated DNA	invasion	Carvalho et al., 2001
	marker		
<i>cgt</i> B, <i>wla</i> N	LOS	adhesion, invasion	Gilbert et al., 2000;
			Linton et al., 2000
feoB	FeoB	iron acquisition	Naikare et al., 2006
flaA, flaB	flagellum	motility, secretion	Guerry et al., 1991
ggt	GGT	metabolism,	Hofreuter et al., 2006
		colonization	
pldA	PldA	erythrocytolysis	Grant et al., 1997
<i>vir</i> B11	pVir plasmid	adhesion, invasion	Bacon et al, 2000

Table 1. Some putative virulence factors of C. jejuni and C. coli.

2.4 Epidemiology

2.4.1 General aspects

Campylobacter colonizes the intestinal tract of many different animals, including cattle, cats, dogs, poultry, sheep, swine, and many different species of wild birds, and although this colonization rarely causes any symptoms in the animal hosts, *C. jejuni* in particular is a considerable human pathogen, and the incidence of infections has been increasing in many industrialized nations (Olson et al., 2008). *C. jejuni* infection is common worldwide, with an estimated incidence rate of approximately 500 to 850 infections/100 000 in the USA (Samuel et al., 2004). This conforms to its estimated incidence in the UK, as the incidence calculated on the basis of reported human cases in 2004 was 84 infections/100,000 (EFSA, 2005), and an English study suggested that the actual incidence of *Campylobacter* infection may be almost 10-fold that, or higher (Wheeler et al., 1999). *Campylobacter* is the most commonly reported gastrointestinal pathogen in the European Union (EFSA, 2005; EFSA, 2009). It is also the most common zoonosis in the EU.



Figure 1 Reported EU cases of *Campylobacter* infection 1999-2007 (EFSA, 2009).

Small children and young adults are especially prone to *Campylobacter* infection (Blaser, 1997; Friedman et al., 2004; Samuel et al., 2004). Men are typically over-represented in patient groups (Butzler & Skirrow, 1979; Samuel et al., 2004; Strachan et al., 2008), and this trend can also be noted at the national level in Finland based on the annual surveillance statistics of the National Institute for Health and Welfare (www3.ktl.fi/stat/).

The seasonal variation of *Campylobacter* infection has been noted in many studies, as typically a peak in *Campylobacter* infection incidence occurs in developed countries in the northern hemisphere during June-August (Butzler & Skirrow, 1979; Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000; Samuel et al., 2004). This seasonal peak is also evident in the most recent EFSA report (EFSA, 2009).

2.4.2 Sources of infection

Eating or handling raw or inadequately cooked poultry meat is an important risk factor for campylobacteriosis (Harris et al., 1986; Neal & Slack, 1997; Studahl & Andersson, 2000). Eating seafood (Harris et al., 1986; Friedman et al., 2004), pork with bones (Studahl & Andersson, 2000), or eating either poultry or non-poultry meat at a restaurant (Friedman et al., 2004), eating at barbecues (Kapperud et al., 1992), eating chicken regularly or outside the

home only (Tam et al., 2009), as well as drinking unpasteurized milk (Studahl & Andersson, 2000; Friedman et al., 2004) are also documented sources of infection. Drinking water from dug wells has been a risk factor (Schönberg-Norio et al., 2004), and because many *Campylobacter* species are commensal organisms of birds, fecal contamination of surface water by birds can increase the risk for subsequent human infection (Broman et al., 2002). Further, domestic pet contact may be associated with increased risk for *Campylobacter* infection (Kapperud et al., 1992; Friedman et al., 2004); especially contact with a dog puppy seems to be associated with *Campylobacter* infection in infants (Tenkate & Stafford, 2001).

The infective dose of *Campylobacter* is extremely low; as few as 500 to 800 cells can cause infection (Robinson, 1981; Black et al., 1988). *Campylobacter* is capable of transition into a "viable, but nonculturable state" under adverse environmental conditions (Rollins & Colwell, 1986), swimming in natural sources of water is a risk factor for *Campylobacter* infection (Schönberg-Norio et al., 2004), and the pathogen can even survive on fresh produce long enough to indirectly cause infection in humans (Kärenlampi & Hänninen, 2004). A recent British study attributed the vast majority of *C. jejuni* infections in humans to chicken and cattle sources (Wilson et al., 2008).

2.4.3 Geographical aspects of *Campylobacter* infection

Considerable variation exists in the distribution of human *Campylobacter* infection incidence among European countries. For example, incidence rates for the Czech Republic versus Spain or Estonia suggest that rate-differences between European countries might even exceed 20fold (EFSA, 2005). This can in part be explained by differences in their notification systems, such as improvements in the system showed in Austria in 2004 (EFSA, 2005). In Spain, only hospitalized cases are notifiable (EFSA, 2005), and some countries like Greece or Portugal have no surveillance systems at all (EFSA, 2009). Considerable variation exists in origin of confirmed *Campylobacter* infections as well, with the only countries in which imported cases of campylobacteriosis predominate over domestic cases are Finland, Sweden, and Norway (EFSA, 2009). Reported broiler-flock prevalences of *Campylobacter* have been consistently low in these three Scandinavian countries (EFSA 2005, EFSA 2009).

Many notable differences appear in *Campylobacter* epidemiology between developed and developing countries (Table 2). First, average age of the infected patient is lower in developing countries (Blaser et al., 1983; Blaser, 1997). Second, the incidence of *Campylobacter* infection, especially for infants, seems to be significantly higher, with campylobacteriosis even suggested as being a hyperendemic infection in developing countries (Coker et al., 2002). Third, in developing countries, after continuous or repeated infections, populations seem to develop some degree of immunity to campylobacteriosis (Blaser, 1997). Fourth, asymptomatic infections are known to occur in developing countries (Glass et al., 1983), but are very uncommon in developed countries (Blaser et al., 1979; Blaser et al., 1983).

Table 2. Comparison of characteristics of *C. jejuni* infections in developed and developing countries (adapted from Blaser, 1997).

Characteristic	Developed countries	Developing countries
"Infections/lifetime" (estimate according to Blaser)	Very few ("0-1")	Numerous (">5")
Age group mostly affected	"Young adults"	"Children <2 years old"
Typical diarrhea	"Inflammatory diarrhea"	"Simple diarrhea"
"Widespread immunity among adults"	"Absent"	"Present"

2.4.4 Outbreaks

Campylobacter infections in humans are mostly sporadic, and those infected during *Campylobacter* outbreaks are few compared to the total number of patients diagnosed with campylobacteriosis. For example, a study which summarized findings from Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre reports noted that between 1992 and 1994, 706 patients were diagnosed with a *Campylobacter* infection, attributable to one of the 21 outbreaks in England and Wales with *Campylobacter* implicated as the causative organism (Frost et al., 2002). This would suggest that less than 0.5% of *Campylobacter* infections are related to outbreaks.

Outbreaks have usually been attributed to unpasteurized milk (Robinson & Jones, 1981; Lehner et al., 2000; Schildt et al., 2006) or tapwater, and during the last three decades several water-borne outbreaks have caused widespread infection in certain geographically distinct areas (Mentzing, 1981; Palmer et al., 1983; Engberg et al., 1998; Kuusi et al., 2004; Kuusi et al., 2005).

Water-borne outbreaks have typically been associated with groundwater plants, contaminated by *Campylobacter* due to heavy rainfalls (Hänninen et al., 2003). In addition, in Finnish outbreak studies, leaks or failure in well pipes or cross-connections between sewage- and drinking-water pipelines are probable reasons for water supply contamination (Rautelin et al., 1990; Laine et al., 2010).

2.5 Diagnostic methods

Four important types of diagnostic methods allow detection of *Campylobacter* infection: stool and blood culture, serum antibody detection, antigen detection from stools, and DNA-based methods.

Since the development of a selective growth medium for *Campylobacter* by Skirrow (1977), bacterial culture on different selective media, especially charcoal-based, has been an efficient method for detecting and isolating the important stool pathogens *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (Endtz et al., 1991b; Kulkarni et al., 2002). Although filtration has been proposed as a cost-effective alternative to culture on selective media (Lastovica & le Roux, 2000), it still seems to be relatively insensitive and a more difficult method than either selective culture or PCR identification (Kulkarni et al., 2002).

Serodiagnosis of *Campylobacter* infection is enabled by use of an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) to detect specific serum antibodies of the IgA, IgG, and IgM classes. To maximize the specificity of serological diagnosis, elevated titers of at least two immunoglobulin classes should probably be chosen for diagnosis of a recent *Campylobacter* infection (Taylor et al., 2004), although this typically results in a loss of sensitivity. In addition, paired serum samples showing at least four-fold antibody titer changes indicate an acute *Campylobacter* infection (Rautelin & Kosunen, 1987). IgG antibodies usually remain elevated for longer periods, up to several months in some patients (Kaldor et al., 1983; Rautelin & Kosunen, 1987; Taylor et al., 2004). On the other hand, elevated antibody titers of IgA and IgM classes have commonly been detectable in patients with an active *Campylobacter* infection (Kaldor et al., 1988; Strid et al., 2001).

Enzyme immunoassay-based stool antigen tests have been developed for rapid detection of *Campylobacter* infection, but clinical use of rapid antigen tests is limited because of low sensitivity (Tissari & Rautelin, 2007), and the need for later verification of negative test results (Hindiyeh et al., 2000; Tissari & Rautelin, 2007).

PCR assays enable rapid identification of *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* to species level (Linton et al., 1997; Denis et al., 1999; Gilbert et al., 2003), but the cost and workload of PCR assays, as well as the lack of a bacterial isolate for further analyses, have been pointed out as disadvantages, compared to culture techniques (Kulkarni et al., 2002).

Multiplex PCR assays allow the exact identification of several enteric pathogens at the same time. A study in which different PCR assays were compared for sensitivity and specificity found that most of the methods were reasonably trustworthy and performed equally (Debruyne et al., 2008). Recently, stool culture was shown to be clearly less sensitive to multiplex-PCR (Bessède et al., 2011).

In addition to these methods, recent results indicate that matrix-assisted desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS), available in a rapidly increasing number of clinical laboratories, should be a reliable and sensitive method for identifying *Campylobacter* isolates (Martiny et al., 2011).

2.6 Antimicrobial susceptibility

2.6.1 Antimicrobial susceptibility testing

Three commonly used methods are suitable for determining whether a bacterial isolate is susceptible or resistant to a certain antimicrobial agent: minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC) testing which can be performed by either an agar or a broth dilution susceptibility test, disk diffusion, and the combination of the disk diffusion method and the exact dilution method, the E-test.

The MIC value of an antimicrobial agent is defined as the lowest concentration of an antimicrobial agent that prevents visible growth of a microorganism in an agar or broth dilution-susceptibility test. If the E-test method is used, the corresponding value can be seen at the point where the zone of growth inhibition intersects the strip with a gradient of the antimicrobial agent tested (PDM Epsilometer, AB Biodisk, Solna, Sweden). While an agar dilution method, using Mueller-Hinton agar supplemented with 5% defibrinated sheep blood and *C. jejuni* ATCC 33560 as a quality-control strain (McDermott et al., 2004), has been developed for ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, erythromycin, gentamicin, and meropenem, and been recognized by the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) as the standard antimicrobial susceptibility testing method for thermophilic *Campylobacter* (CLSI, 2005), the less time-consuming and less expensive method of broth dilution is an alternative for determining MIC values (Luber et al., 2003). For broth dilution testing of *Campylobacter*, Mueller-Hinton broth with 2.5 to 5% lysed horse blood has been approved for determining MIC values (CLSI, 2006).

A disk diffusion method for determining antimicrobial susceptibility of *Campylobacter* involves use of Mueller-Hinton agar with 5% sheep blood inoculated with a direct colony suspension of the test organism - equivalent to a 0.5 McFarland standard - and paper discs containing specific concentrations of the antimicrobial agent are applied to the surface of the agar. After this, incubation for 24 to 48 hours at optimal temperature and atmosphere follows (CLSI, 2006). The antimicrobial agent diffuses into the agar, inhibiting the growth of bacteria which are susceptible to the antimicrobial agent, and this can be seen as a zone of inhibition around each disc.

In addition, study of plasmids or genes associated with resistance can aid in understanding of antimicrobial resistance mechanisms.

2.6.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility and resistance among *Campylobacter*

Macrolides and fluoroquinolones have been the primary drugs of choice for campylobacteriosis (Aarestrup & Engberg, 2001), but increasing antimicrobial resistance, especially to fluoroquinolones, is becoming an important health issue. The mechanisms by which *Campylobacter* develops resistance against fluoroquinolones and macrolides are well known. Fluoroquinolone resistance is attributed to mutations in genes encoding DNA gyrase

(*gyrA*), more specifically at positions Thr-86, Asp-90, and Ala-70 (Wang et al., 1993; Ge et al., 2005). Macrolide resistance is mostly considered to be due to mutations in the 23S rRNA gene (Gibreel et al., 2005). Another mechanism with a role in the development of macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter* is the *Campylobacter* multidrug efflux pump (CmeABC) (Cagliero et al., 2005; Gibreel et al., 2007); modifications in the ribosomal proteins L4 and L22 may also affect the susceptibility to macrolides (Cagliero et al., 2006).

In the beginning of the 1990's, an increase in quinolone resistance in human *Campylobacter* isolates in the Netherlands coincided with increased use of fluoroquinolones in both human and veterinary medicine (Endtz et al., 1991a). Shortly thereafter, in Finland, and later in other countries, many separate reports confirmed that quinolone resistance had increased significantly within only one decade (Rautelin et al., 1991; Reina et al., 1994; Murphy et al., 1996; Smith et al., 1999; Gupta et al., 2004). This, however, has not been the case among domestically acquired infections in Finland (Rautelin et al., 2003; Schönberg-Norio et al., 2006), where fluoroquinolones are not used in poultry production (Hänninen et al., 1999; Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000). In fact, few domestic *Campylobacter* isolates in Finland are resistant to fluoroquinolones, while the majority of isolates originating from countries with a high prevalence of quinolone resistance, for example Spain or Thailand, are resistant to fluoroquinolones (Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000).

Following the rapid emergence of fluoroquinolone resistance among *Campylobacter*, interest has increased in studying whether or not the decreased antimicrobial susceptibility affects the clinical outcome of disease. Results have been contradictory (Table 3).

Country	Time period	Isolates studied (N)	Ciprofloxacin resistance	Conclusion	Reference
Denmark	1996-2000	3471	22%	Quinolone resistance associated with increased risk for adverse events	Helms et al., 2005
USA	1998-1999	858	11%	Longer-lasting diarrhea among patients with ciprofloxacin-resistant isolates	Nelson et al., 2004
England and Wales	2000-2001	3489	19%	No difference in hospital admission or mean length of illness	The Campylobacter Sentinel Surveillance Scheme Collaborators, 2002
Re-analysis of studies from USA and UK	1998-2001			Infections caused by fluoroquinolone-resistant <i>Campylobacter</i> not more severe than those caused by susceptible isolates	Wassenaar et al., 2007
Australia	2001-2002	585	2%	Infection with ciprofloxacin-resistant <i>C.</i> <i>jejuni</i> not resulting in a more severe illness	Unicomb et al., 2006
Denmark	2001-2002	467	18%	Patients with quinolone- resistant <i>C. jejuni</i> infections with longer mean duration of illness	Engberg et al., 2004

Table 3. Impact of ciprofloxacin resistance on clinical outcome of Campylobacter infection.

Macrolide resistance is typically detected in *C. coli* strains, possibly because tylosin is a growth-promoter in pigs in some countries (Engberg et al., 2001; Gibreel et al., 2006). Interestingly, macrolide resistance is not usually detected in Finland (Rautelin et al, 2003), and the situation appears to be similar in Sweden (Rönner et al., 2004) and Japan (Gibreel et al., 2006).

When determining the therapeutic effect of an antimicrobial agent against a certain microorganism, one problem is the lack of international standards and guidelines (Kahlmeter et al., 2003). The clinical breakpoints for ciprofloxacin and erythromycin are available for comparison from two major committees, the CLSI (CLSI, 2009) in the USA and the EUCAST (www.eucast.org) in Europe. For ciprofloxacin, a *Campylobacter* strain is considered resistant if the MIC-value is $\geq 4 \ \mu g/ml$ according to CLSI guidelines, and for erythromycin, the breakpoint for resistance is $\geq 32 \ \mu g/ml$. These breakpoints are somewhat higher than the EUCAST guidelines: for ciprofloxacin MIC-values $\geq 2 \ \mu g/ml$, and for erythromycin MIC-values $\geq 8 \ \mu g/ml$. In addition to clinical breakpoints, the EUCAST also monitors resistance development, which is expressed with epidemiological cut-off values (Kahlmeter et al., 2003; www.eucast.org).

2.7 Clinical aspects of Campylobacter infection

2.7.1 Enteritis

The typical clinical signs after ingestion, and subsequent intestinal colonization of *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* indicate an inflammatory response in the affected human host; endoscopy may reveal macroscopically visible enteritis affecting the jejunum, ileum, and colon (Blaser et al., 1980; Blaser & Reller, 1981). The incubation period is normally 3 to 5 days but can sometimes be shorter or significantly longer, even up to 10 days (Butzler & Skirrow, 1979; Butzler, 2004). Nonspecific prodromal symptoms, for example headache, myalgia, and fever, may precede the diarrheal illness and last approximately one day (Blaser, 1997). Watery diarrhea, fever, and abdominal cramps and pain which sometimes mimic those of acute appendicitis, are common features of *Campylobacter* enteritis, and blood and leukocytes in the stools are relatively frequent, as well (Blaser, 1997; Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000; Butzler, 2004). The diarrheal phase usually lasts for a few days, and while patients often recover from the disease within a week, the symptoms can sometimes be prolonged or re-appear (Blaser, 1997; Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000; Butzler, 2004). The timing of clinical symptoms, in relation to stool culture and serology, is presented in Figure 2.



Figure 2 Timeline of an acute *Campylobacter* infection.

Patients with a clinical picture involving bloody stools or vomiting are likely to have a longer duration of illness and may require hospital treatment more often than others (Gillespie, et al., 2006).

2.7.2 Bacteremia

As noted by Butzler (2004), *Vibrio fetus (C. fetus)* was the first *Campylobacter* species to be detected and identified from human blood cultures; Vinzent *et al.* (1947) were able to isolate the pathogen from a pregnant woman well before the 'related vibrios' were recognized as human pathogens. However, it was later confirmed that *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* are also important pathogens causing *Campylobacter* bacteremia (Blaser et al., 1986; Skirrow et al., 1993). In fact, many studies have shown that the thermophilic *Campylobacter* species are isolated more often than *C. fetus* from human blood samples (Skirrow et al., 1993; Schønheyder et al., 1995; Nielsen et al., 2010a; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010). Although *Campylobacter* are not commonly associated with invasiveness, it has been estimated that bacteremia can be detected in approximately 1% of patients with *Campylobacter* infection (Samuel et al., 2004). On the other hand, as blood cultures are usually taken only from those with febrile gastroenteritis who have been referred to, or seek hospital care, the actual incidence of *Campylobacter* bacteremia may be significantly higher.

Patients with *Campylobacter* bacteremia typically experience the same array of symptoms as do patients with uncomplicated enteritis: e.g. fever, malaise, and gastrointestinal symptoms, although diarrhea sometimes occurs in only about one third of patients (Pigrau et al., 1997; Pacanowski et al., 2008). Noteworthy also is that many *Campylobacter* bacteremia patients may have concomitant cellulitis, and although skin infection mostly seems to be attributed to *C. fetus* (Pigrau et al., 1997; Pacanowski et al., 2008; Gazaigne et al, 2008), some report cellulitis as occurring concurrently with *C. jejuni* bacteremia (Tee & Mijch, 1998; Monselise et al., 2004).

Differences between clinical disease caused by *C. fetus* or by either *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* include the findings that *C. fetus* infection is not commonly associated with enteritis and diarrhea, and patients with *C. fetus* infection are often elderly or immunocompromised (Guerrant et al., 1978; Schmidt et al., 1980; Francioli et al., 1985; Gazaigne et al, 2008). In recent European studies performed at hospitals in France and Spain, the mortality of *Campylobacter* bacteremia patients has been 10 to 15% (Pigrau et al., 1997; Pacanowski et al., 2008; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010), while a Danish study found mortality to be as low as 4% (Nielsen et al., 2010a). *Campylobacter* bacteremia mortality data are presented in Table 4.

Location	Study period	N of patients	<i>Campylobacter</i> species	Mortality	Reference
England and Wales	1981- 1991	394	C. jejuni/coli 89%	NA	Skirrow et al., 1993
South Africa	1991- 1994	19	C. jejuni 100%	16%	Reed et al., 1996
Australia	1985- 1995	21	C. jejuni 100%	14%	Tee & Mijch, 1998
Barcelona, Spain	1979- 1996	58	C. jejuni/coli 83%	10.5%	Pigrau et al., 1997
Paris, France	2000- 2004	183	C. jejuni/coli 39%	15%	Pacanowski et al., 2008
Denmark	1995- 2004	46	C. jejuni/coli 91%	4%	Nielsen et al., 2010a
Madrid, Spain	1985- 2007	68	C. jejuni/coli 78%	15%	Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010

Table 4. Species distribution and mortality rates from *Campylobacter* bacteremia studies (adapted data from Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010).

Well-characterized clinical materials for which *C. jejuni* bacteremia isolates are available are scarce, and therefore information regarding the possible differences in the virulence factor profiles of blood and stool isolates is limited. Nielsen et al found no association between the virulence genes *iam*, *cdt*B, *cap*A, or *vir*B, and *C. jejuni* blood isolates, as compared to stool culture isolates (Nielsen et al., 2010b).

2.7.3 Other extra-intestinal infections

In addition to bacteremia, other extra-intestinal infection foci for *C. jejuni/ coli* include cellulitis (Tee & Mijch, 1998; Monselise et al., 2004), cholecystitis (Blaser et al., 1986), meningitis (Blaser et al., 1986; Goossens et al., 1986), peritoneal infection, and abscesses, as well as urinary tract infection (Blaser et al., 1986). In addition, respiratory tract infections occur in immunocompromised patients with bacteremia (Tee & Mijch, 1998; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010), although microbiological verification is lacking. Increased bacterial virulence, such as serum resistance, may need to occur before *Campylobacter* causes extraintestinal infection in normal, healthy human hosts (Blaser et al., 1986).

2.7.4 Guillain-Barré syndrome

As early as in 1982, two separate case reports suggested a link between an acute inflammatory polyneuropathy, termed GBS, and *C. jejuni* infection (Rhodes & Tattersfield, 1982; Molnar et al., 1982). GBS has since been shown to be a severe complication of *C*.

jejuni infection (Mishu et al., 1993; Rees et al., 1995), and the estimated risk for GBS after *Campylobacter* infection is approximately 1-3/10 000 cases of campylobacteriosis (McCarthy & Giesecke, 2001; Tam et al., 2006).

GBS is an autoimmune condition, in which the patients develop antibodies against gangliosides, most typically GM1, resulting in axonal degeneration through either demyelinization or direct axonal damage. Carbohydrate mimicry between GM1 and *C. jejuni* LOS leading to the development of such cross-reactive antibodies has been shown to occur under experimental conditions in rabbits (Yuki et al., 2004). Some strains of *C. jejuni* have sialylated LOS (Parker et al., 2005). These sialylated carbohydrates closely resemble some of the human gangliosides (Gilbert et al., 2002). Some *C. jejuni* serotypes have been associated with the development of GBS, particularly Penner serotype O:19 (Allos et al., 1998). Sialylated LOS is more prevalent than nonsialylated LOS in GBS-associated *C. jejuni* strains (Koga et al., 2006), but not all *C. jejuni* isolated from patients who developed GBS have sialylated LOS (Godschalk et al., 2007). Certainly, many other bacterial and host factors might affect the pathogenesis of GBS, as molecular mimicry at present insufficiently explains why certain patients develop GBS.

2.7.5 Other sequelae

Antecedent *Campylobacter* infection is considered a risk factor for reactive arthritis (Hannu et al., 2002; Locht & Krogfelt, 2002). The prevalence of reactive arthritis among patients examined within a median of 11 weeks after the onset of *Campylobacter* infection was 7% (Hannu et al., 2002). However, self-reported musculoskeletal symptoms are more prevalent, and studies have shown that between 16% and 39% of patients, after *Campylobacter* infection, have reported joint symptoms which could indicate arthritis or tendinitis (Bremell et al., 1991; Locht & Krogfelt, 2002; Schönberg-Norio et al., 2010). In one study, a longer duration of diarrhea was significantly associated with later arthralgia (Locht & Krogfelt, 2002). Antimicrobial treatment does not prevent the development of reactive joint symptoms (Locht & Krogfelt, 2002; Schönberg-Norio et al., 2010).

An association is known between bacterial enteritis and the development of irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), and in studies where *Campylobacter* infection has been prevalent, the incidence of IBS as a post-infectious complication is estimated to be between 4 and 13% (Rodríguez et al., 1999; Spiller, 2007).

2.7.6 Treatment

It is generally accepted that *Campylobacter* enteritis is a self-limited disease which resolves spontaneously in the majority of infected patients, and that antimicrobial treatment should be reserved primarily for immunocompromised individuals and patients with severe symptoms (Blaser, 1997; Rautelin & Hänninen, 2000; Butzler, 2004). For a long period of time, fluoroquinolones were considered the appropriate treatment for campylobacteriosis, but due to the increasing fluoroquinolone resistance which has developed rapidly in many parts of the

world, these antimicrobials are no longer considered to be optimal empirical treatment of Campylobacter infections (Allos, 2001). Traditionally, erythromycin has been regarded as a primary choice of treatment for campylobacteriosis, and has been presented as the most favorable option for treating uncomplicated intestinal illness (McNulty, 1987). Although some studies have suggested that antibiotic treatment shortens the duration of illness (Salazar-Lindo et al., 1986; Kuschner et al., 1995), double-blind placebo-controlled trials have shown that differences in the duration of symptoms are minimal between the patients treated with erythromycin and those who receive placebo (Anders et al., 1982; Mandal et al., 1984). In addition, a recent meta-analysis showed that the beneficial effect of antibiotics is limited, possibly only shortening the duration of gastrointestinal symptoms by little more than a day (Ternhag et al., 2007). In a recent Finnish study, appropriate antimicrobial therapy, based on the MIC values of the isolates, shortened the duration of illness only when initiated within two days after onset of symptoms (Schönberg-Norio et al., 2010). However, several studies have clearly shown that treatment with erythromycin effectively eradicates Campylobacter from patients' stools (Anders et al., 1982; Mandal et al., 1984; Williams et al., 1989).

When considering antimicrobial treatment for *Campylobacter* bacteremia, antimicrobial susceptibility of the blood culture isolate is of even greater importance and should naturally be taken into consideration when the therapy is planned. The beneficial effect of appropriate antimicrobial treatment on the outcome of *Campylobacter* bacteremia has been either evident, particularly for species other than *C. fetus* (Pacanowski et al., 2008), or non-existent (Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010).

While not regarded as primary antimicrobial agents for campylobacteriosis treatment, carbapenems may be an alternative treatment for severe *Campylobacter* infection, based on susceptibility-testing results (Pacanowski et al., 2008; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010). Even multi-drug-resistant *Campylobacter* isolates are still susceptible to carbapenems, at least *in vitro* (Lehtopolku et al., 2010). In Finland, *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* have been highly susceptible to aminoglycosides (Rautelin et al., 1991; Lehtopolku et al., 2010). Further, based on the susceptibility patterns of the isolates tested, clindamycin (Wagner et al., 2003), tetracyclines (Wagner et al., 2003), and tigecycline (Lehtopolku et al., 2010) are possible alternatives for antimicrobial therapy of *Campylobacter* infection.

2.7.7 Immunological aspects

Several immunological factors affect both the susceptibility of the human host to *Campylobacter* infection, as well as its outcome and course.

Innate immunity to *Campylobacter* infection can be divided into the defense mechanisms of the gastrointestinal tract and those defenses present in the intestinal submucosa and systemic circulation (Iovine, 2008). The gastrointestinal tract is an important first-line defense barrier, and important innate immune defenses include salivary nitrite, gastric acid, the microbiome of the large intestine, mucins, defensins, Toll-like receptors (TLRs), and, to a certain degree, bile (Iovine, 2008).

Interestingly, bile has triggered CiaB expression in *C. jejuni in vitro* (Rivera-Amill et al., 2001). On the other hand, *Campylobacter* is generally bile-resistant, and cholecystitis sometimes occurs as a complication during or after campylobacteriosis.

Lipopolysaccharides are known ligands to TLR2 and TLR4 on the surface of dendritic cells (DCs) (Moll, 2003). *C. jejuni* activates DCs through TLR4 signalling (Rathinam et al., 2009), and sialylation of LOS may enhance this activation (Kujif et al., 2010), and possibly even lead to the development of anti-ganglioside antibodies (Kujif et al., 2010), which are associated with the neurological complication GBS (Yuki et al., 2004).

The inflammatory response leading to neutrophil and macrophage recruitment is the basis for the systemic defensive mechanisms of the innate immunity mechanism in the human host. Proinflammatory responses of cytokines and chemokines as well as phagocyte recruitment and the activation of complement are essential innate immunity defense mechanisms (Janssen et al., 2008). Very few studies show any association between *Campylobacter* bacteremia and sensitivity to normal human serum (NHS); *C. fetus* is essentially serum-resistant, while the serum susceptibility of *C. coli* and *C. jejuni* varies considerably (Blaser et al., 1985; 1986). The complement-mediated killing of serum-susceptible isolates is important for restricting the access of pathogens as well as of commensal organisms to the bloodstream; however, *C. jejuni* blood isolates are not always particularly serum-resistant (Blaser et al., 1985). Sialylated LOS may be important for the development of serum resistance in *C. jejuni* (Guerry et al., 2000), while another group speculates that LOS plays a role in resisting some defensins and proteins, and that the capsule would instead be associated with serum resistance (Keo et al., 2011).

In addition to the diagnostic usefulness of understanding the activation of humoral immune responses during and following *Campylobacter* infection, the role of the adaptive immune system in disease severity and the development of cross-reactive immunity at an individual level has been studied (Janssen et al., 2008). Vast epitopic variation in immunogenic *Campylobacter* surface components such as flagellin, the major outer membrane protein (MOMP), capsule structures, and LOS, is mostly attributed to the fact that these antigenic regions are particularly poorly conserved (Havelaar et al., 2009). Due to the antigenic diversity, it is therefore probable that although the presence of *Campylobacter*-specific antibodies indicates exposure to infection, the possible protection provided by these immunoglobulins is mostly limited to homologous *Campylobacter* strains (Havelaar et al., 2009). Hence, it seems that repeated exposure to heterologous strains may be a requirement for development of cross-reactive immunity.

When considering the immunological importance of various immunoglobulins, it is worth noting that empirical evidence for at least two major classes of immunoglobulins, IgA and IgG, exists. The protective effect of IgA, and of secretory IgA (sIgA) in particular, has been shown (Mégraud et al., 1990). Furthermore, children with elevated IgG levels in developing countries are less likely to develop the more severe symptoms like bloody diarrhea (Blaser et al., 1985; Blaser et al., 1986; Janssen et al., 2008).

In accordance with differences between the characteristics of *C. jejuni* infection in different parts of the world (Table 2), findings reflecting the development of partial immunity against this heterogenous species have been presented in a study by Miller et al., in which common serotypes were over-represented among patients under age 40, while uncommon serotypes were over-represented among the older (Miller et al., 2005).

2.7.8 General health burden and cost

Among estimates of the costs and health care burden due to campylobacteriosis, in Sweden (population approximately 8 million) the total cost, with both direct healthcare costs and indirect, patient-, and loss-of-earning-related costs included, came to as much as 179 to 352 million Swedish crowns (data from Government Offices of Sweden). This estimate is based on a prevalence multiplier of 9.02, and the direct healthcare costs accounted for approximately 15% of total cost. The cost of acute campylobacteriosis to patients and the health services in the UK, excluding the costs of post-infectious complications, was estimated to be around 20 million UK pounds (personal communication, Tam CC, 2012). An earlier estimate from the UK attributed roughly 10% of the total cost of intestinal infectious diseases (743 million UK pounds) to *Campylobacter* infection, indicating that the most significant proportion of the socio-economic impact of bacterial enteropathogens was due to campylobacteriosis (Roberts et al., 2003).

3. Aims of the study

Bacterial traits which could lead to a more severe outcome of *Campylobacter* infection are not well known. Although experimental studies have proposed a number of possible virulence factors as important for colonizing and invading the human host, the need is evident for studies with non-selected clinical materials with patient data to study these findings' relevance. The aim of this PhD thesis was to clarify whether factors, involving patients' and bacterial characteristics, are important for development of a more severe *Campylobacter* infection. The specific aims of the study were:

- 1. To study whether ciprofloxacin-resistant *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* isolates cause more severe disease.
- 2. To screen for putative virulence factors of *C. jejuni* isolates and to study their possible association with disease outcome, or with severity of symptoms.
- 3. To characterize *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* bacteremia patients as well as the course and outcome of the disease.
- 4. To study the bacterial characteristics of *C. jejuni* blood culture isolates, and more specifically;

whether certain MLST CCs are associated with bacteremia,

whether serum resistance is needed for C. jejuni to cause bacteremia,

whether sialylated LOS is prevalent among C. jejuni bacteremia isolates,

and whether any of these bacterial characteristics are associated with *C*. *jejuni* bacteremia in certain patient subgroups, for example, those with severe underlying diseases.

4. Materials and methods

4.1 Patient data

4.1.1 Campylobacter enteritis patients (I, II)

Patients from the Helsinki-Uusimaa region for whom *Campylobacter*-positive stool samples were detected at Helsinki University Central Hospital Laboratory (HUSLAB) from July 1 through December 31, 2006 were asked to participate in the study. Questionnaires, along with information about the study, went to the physicians who had referred the patients to laboratory tests, and the physicians forwarded the questionnaires to the patients, who completed a questionnaire and returned it with their written consent. For children, parents or guardians filled in the questionnaire, and gave their informed consent.

As 206 patients in Studies I and II returned the questionnaire, the response rate was 57% (Figure 3). Further, 14 patients were excluded because the isolates were lacking or because they had a co-infection. A total of 192 patients with *C. jejuni*/*C. coli* enteritis were included in Study I, and 166 patients with *C. jejuni* enteritis in Study II.



Figure 3 Flow chart of patients included in *Campylobacter* enteritis Studies I and II.

Questionnaires

The questionnaires contained detailed questions about occurrence, timing, and time-period of symptoms, background information such as underlying diseases or medical conditions, foreign travel, and medication. In addition, they asked for data on treatment and post-infectious complications, with emphasis on timing and length of antimicrobial therapy.

Occurrence of the following symptoms was specifically inquired; diarrhea, watery stools, bloody stools, slimy stools, headache, abdominal pain, fever, chills, cramps, nausea, vomiting, myalgia, and weight-loss. The patients filled in the length of time with diarrhea, headache, abdominal pain, fever, nausea, vomiting, myalgia, and other self-reported symptoms, and whether they had prodromal symptoms, and their timing.

Travel information covered any foreign or domestic travel within two weeks prior to onset of symptoms. The patient's own opinion regarding the source of infection, as well as suspicion of horizontal disease transmission, was included. The patients reported the length and timing of any hospital treatment for *Campylobacter* infection.

The patients stated whether they had used any medication in the month prior to onset of illness, and described their use of antibiotics, cortisone, and antacids or any antibiotic treatment for *Campylobacter* infection, the names of the drugs, and length and timing of antimicrobial therapy.

As to underlying diseases, these specifically were diabetes, gastric, intestinal, cardiovascular, and rheumatic diseases, as well as diseases increasing susceptibility to infections, and any episodes of *Campylobacter* infection.

Occurrence of post-infectious symptoms was included, such as arthralgia, tendinitis, eye symptoms indicating conjunctivitis/iritis, and skin blisters, nodules and rashes, angina pectoris, arrhythmias, prolonged intestinal symptoms, as well as neurological symptoms. The patients stated whether they had been treated at a hospital or had received antimicrobial therapy for post-infectious symptoms.

Finally came total length of illness and the patients' own descriptions of their convalescence.

4.1.2 *Campylobacter* bacteremia patients (III, IV)

The *Campylobacter* bacteremia study was a nationwide retrospective study, essentially covering all *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* bacteremia cases diagnosed in Finland within the 10-year period 1998-2007. The patients were identified from the National Infectious Diseases Register (NIDR), as well as from the blood culture isolates received from microbiological laboratories throughout the country. In total, 119 *Campylobacter* bacteremia cases were reported to the NIDR in 1998-2007, and 95 bacterial isolates were obtained from microbiological laboratories. However, as comparison of patient information and characteristics of *Campylobacter* bacteremia isolates was of special interest, only those cases

for which all information and bacterial isolates were available were included. A flow chart for the selection and exclusion of patients in Studies III and IV is in Figure 4.





Patient information

The hospital treatment records of patients are routinely stored in hospital archives. From such archives throughout Finland, detailed information was reviewed regarding the course of disease, symptoms, and treatment. The time-range for follow-up of patient data was from admission until one year after the *Campylobacter*-positive blood culture. Information regarding background, symptoms, laboratory results, course of disease, treatment, outcome, and follow-up, when available, was documented for all patients.

Relevant background information included documented antibiotic use before the bacteremic episode, foreign travel within two weeks before the onset of symptoms, initial symptoms, and referral diagnoses.

Relevant information regarding all available patient symptoms from hospital treatment records was systematically documented as follows: occurrence and length of diarrhea and fever, and occurrence of bloody stools, slimy stools, watery stools, abdominal cramps, abdominal pain, vomiting, myalgia, and arthralgia. Fever was defined as an axillary or rectal temperature of >37.9°C documented at least once during the hospital stay; the highest

measured temperature was also noted, as were blood pressure levels (at admission, and lowest), and tachycardia at admission.

All relevant laboratory test results were documented, and levels at admission to hospital and discharge from hospital, as well as lowest and highest levels. Laboratory test results included hemoglobin, leukocyte, and platelet count, alcalic phosphatase (AFOS), amylase, bilirubin, *Campylobacter* antibodies, C-reactive protein (CRP), calcium, creatinine, potassium, sodium, and transaminases ALAT and ASAT, human leukocyte antigen B27 (HLA-27), as well as stool cultures and urine findings.

Detailed hospital treatment information specifically involved length of hospital treatment, need for intensive care unit (ICU) treatment, length and timing of antimicrobial therapies, and radiological examinations such as computer tomography (CT) scan, echocardiography, magnetic resonance (MR) imaging, and thorax radiography.

Data regarding underlying diseases were analyzed and scored according to the Charlson index (Table 5) (Charlson et al., 1987). The Charlson index score is cumulative: a Charlson index score ≥ 1 indicates that the underlying disease is significant, and ≥ 2 that the underlying disease is severe.

Condition	Weight
Cerebrovascular disease	1
Chronic pulmonary disease	1
Congestive heart failure	1
Connective tissue disease	1
Dementia	1
Diabetes	1
Mild liver disease	1
Myocardial infarction	1
Peripheral vascular disease	1
Ulcer disease	1
Any tumor	2
Hemiplegia	2
Leukemia	2
Lymphoma	2
Moderate or severe renal disease	2
Moderate or severe liver disease	3
Metastatic cancer	6
AIDS	6

Table 5. Scoring of underlying diseases according to the Charlson weighted index of comorbidity (adapted data from Charlson et al., 1987).

Information regarding antimicrobial treatment after hospitalization, post-infectious complications, and possible relapse or re-admission to hospital was noted, and records of hospital visits were reviewed. Inflammatory, neurological, or rheumatic symptoms, indicating arthritis, iritis, IBS, paralysis, or tendinitis, as well as possible surgical procedures, were noted from the next year following the bacteremic episode. Duration of sick-leave was documented. Any results from colonoscopy or gastroscopy were included. Mortality data
came from Statistics Finland, from the treatment period for *Campylobacter* bacteremia and the following year.

4.2 Bacterial isolates

4.2.1 Species identification

Determination of *Campylobacter* enteritis isolates to species level was based on a hippurate hydrolysis test; positive isolates were classified as *C. jejuni* and negative isolates as *C. coli* (I, II). Furthermore, characteristic PFGE patterns for a subgroup of the isolates confirmed typing to species level. In the *Campylobacter* bacteremia study, isolates were genotyped by species-specific PCR analyses for *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* (III). For the initial analyses, primers were designed to target the *mapA* gene in the *C. jejuni* genome and the *ceuE* gene in the *C. coli* genome, with findings verified by additional analyses targeting hippuricase in *C. jejuni* and aspartokinase in *C. coli* (III). The reference strains *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168, *C. jejuni* 811176, and *C. coli* LMG6440 served as positive controls; negative controls included one with no added template DNA for all bacteremia isolates, as well as the *C. coli* isolates (III).

4.2.2 Genotyping

To determine whether the *C. jejuni* enteritis isolates were essentially clonal or diverse, all domestic isolates and all those isolates presumably of foreign origin from July 2006 were analyzed by PFGE (II). The *Campylobacter* bacteremia isolates were genotyped by MLST (IV).

The PFGE was performed with DNA from the *C. jejuni* isolates that were harvested from Brucella blood agar after two days' growth. Shortly, after preparation of the DNA and digestion with *KpnI*, DNA plugs were loaded into sample wells of the agarose gel, and separated by electrophoresis with ramped pulses (Hänninen et al., 1998). Differences in at least one band indicated that the PFGE profiles differed.

MLST was performed according to techniques described in detail (Dingle et al., 2001; Kärenlampi et al., 2007; de Haan et al., 2010). In short, DNA was isolated with the Wizard genomic DNA purification kit (Promega, Germany), to be used for PCR. PCR conditions and annealing temperature were chosen as earlier described (Korczak et al., 2009; de Haan et al., 2010), and the PCR products were purified on Multiscreen PCR plates (Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA). Sequencing was performed by the BigDye terminator version 3.1 ready reaction cycle sequencing kit (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA) at the Institute of Biotechnology, Helsinki, and the assembly and editing of the sequence data were performed with BioNumerics version 5.1 software (Applied Maths, Kortrijk, Belgium).

4.2.3 Antimicrobial susceptibility

Antimicrobial susceptibility of stool culture isolates was first tested for ciprofloxacin (I) and then also for erythromycin (II) and doxycycline (II). In addition to these three antimicrobial agents, blood culture isolates were also evaluated for susceptibility to gentamicin, meropenem, clindamycin, and metronidazole (III). The MIC values of ciprofloxacin (Bayer Health Care AG, Leverkusen, Germany), erythromycin (Amdipharm Ltd, Dublin, Ireland), doxycycline (Orion Pharma, Espoo, Finland), clindamycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO, USA), metronidazole (B. Braun Melsungen AG, Melsungen, Germany), gentamicin (Sigma-Aldrich) and meropenem (Sandoz AG, Basel, Switzerland) were determined by an agar dilution method according to CLSI recommendations (CLSI, 2005). Mueller-Hinton agar (Oxoid, Basingstoke, UK) plates supplemented with defibrinated sheep blood (5%) and containing antimicrobial agent were prepared within 24 hours of use. The concentrations of the antimicrobials were as follows: ciprofloxacin 0.008–128 mg/L, erythromycin 0.125–1024 mg/L, doxycycline 0.032-128 mg/L, gentamicin 0.016-32 mg/L, metronidazole 0.064-256 mg/L, clindamycin 0.016-32 mg/L, and meropenem 0.001-32 mg/L. Direct colony suspension was prepared from overnight growth on blood agar plates by suspending the culture in sterile distilled water in order to obtain a turbidity of a 0.5 McFarland standard.

Approximately 10⁴ colony-forming units (CFU) were applied per spot with a multipoint inoculator. Quality-control strains included *C. jejuni* American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) 33560, *Staphylococcus aureus* ATCC 29213 (for clindamycin), and *Helicobacter pylori* ATCC 43504 (for metronidazole). The inoculated agar plates were incubated in a microaerobic atmosphere (BBL CampyPak Plus, Becton Dickinson CO., Sparks, MD, USA) at 36°C for 48 h. The MIC was the lowest concentration of the antimicrobial agent completely inhibiting visible bacterial growth. Antimicrobial susceptibility of the isolates for ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, and erythromycin were interpreted according to the CLSI guidelines, whereas for clindamycin, gentamicin, and meropenem, breakpoints came from the National Antimicrobial Resistance Monitoring System (NARMS), and for metronidazole breakpoints suggested by Hariharan et al. were used (Table 6).

Antimicrobial agent	Susceptible	Intermediate	Resistant	Reference
ciprofloxacin	≤1 mg/L	2 mg/L	≥4 mg/L	CLSI
clindamycin	≤2 mg/L	4 mg/L	≥8 mg/L	NARMS
doxycycline	≤2 mg/L	4 mg/L	≥8 mg/L	CLSI
erythromycin	≤8 mg/L	16 mg/L	≥32 mg/L	CLSI
gentamicin	≤2 mg/L	4 mg/L	≥8 mg/L	NARMS
meropenem	≤4 mg/L	8 mg/L	≥16 mg/L	NARMS
metronidazole	≤4 mg/L	8 mg/L	≥16 mg/L	Hariharan et al., 2009

Table 6. Breakpoints for ciprofloxacin, clindamycin, doxycycline, erythromycin, gentamicin, meropenem, and metronidazole.

4.2.4 Virulence factors

C. jejuni enteritis isolates found to be *ggt*-positive by comparative genomics were further tested for production of GGT by a qualitative detection method (Shibayama et al., 2003). To study the presence of other putative virulence factors, DNA was extracted from the *C. jejuni* enteritis isolates and tested for the presence of the genes *ceu*E, *cgt*B, *cia*B, *cj*0486, *pld*A, *vir*B11, and *wla*N, as well as the *cdt*ABC operon, with primers selected for detecting each of these genes (Table 7a).

To describe the virulence factor profiles of the C. jejuni bacteremia isolates, we measured qualitative production of GGT as described for *Helicobacter pylori* (Shibayama et al., 2003), and presence of the genes ceuE, ciaB, cj0486, and virB11, by the same method as described above for the enteritis isolates. For screening for LOS locus classes, the presence of open reading frame (ORF) orf12 (waaV) served as verification for successful DNA extraction from all isolates. A summary of the primers used for the detection of the open reading frames (galactosyltransferase *cgtB-1*), orf7ab (sialyltransferase cstII), orf6ab1 orf6ab2 (galactosyltransferase cgtB-2), and orf5bII (cgtA2) used for identification of sialylated LOS locus classes A and B, detection of orf6c (galactosyltransferase Cj1139c) and orf7c (sialyltransferase *cstIII*) in strains of sialylated LOS locus class C, and detection of orf26e and orf27e for identification of nonsialylated LOS locus classes E, H, O, and P, as well as orf12 are summarized in Table 7b.

Virulence factor gene	Primer	5'-3'	Primer sequences
<i>cdt</i> ABC	1	2	CTTTATGCATGTTCTTCTAAATTT GTTAAAGGTGGGGTTATAATCATT
ceuE	1	2	GATAAAGTCGTTGGCGTTCC GCGAGATTGGAGGACCAAAGG
<i>cia</i> B	1	2	CAGAAGGAGAAATTTGTGAGC ATATCCCATTCTAATGCCACC
<i>cj</i> 0486	1	2	GATAGAGCATTAAATTGGGATG CCTATAAAGCCATACCAAGCC
cgtB	1	2	TTAAGAGCAAGATATGAAGGTG GCACATAGAGAACGCTACAA
pldA	1	2	AAGCTTATGCGTTTTT TATAAGGCTTTCTCCA
<i>vir</i> B11	1	2	TCTTGTGAGTTGCCTTACCCCTTTT CCTGCGTGTCCTGTGTTATTTACCC
<i>wla</i> N	1	2	TTAAGAGCAAGATATGAAGGTG TGCTGGGTATACAAAGGTTGTG

Table 7a. Primers in Studies II and IV.

ORF (gene)	LOS locus class	Primer	5'-3'	Primer sequences
12 (<i>waaV</i>)	all	1	2	GCCACAACTTTCTATCATAATCCCGC CGCCGTAACTCAAACGCTCATCTATT
6ab1 (<i>cgtB-1</i>)	A1*, B1*	1	2	CAAGGGCAATAGAAAGCTGTATCA ACAAGCACTTCATTCTTAGTATTACAAAT
6ab2 (<i>cgtB-2</i>)	A2*, B2*	1	2	TCATCTTGCCAACTTATAATGTGGA TCTAGCGATATTAAACCAACAGCCT
7ab (<i>cstll</i>)	A1*, A2*, B1*, B2*	1	2	ACTACACTTTAAAACATTTAATCCAAAATCA CCATAAGCCTCACTAGAAGGTATGAGTATA
5bII (<i>cgtA2</i>)	B1*, B2*	1	2	CTGTGATGATGGGAGTGAAGAGC GGTAATCGTTTCGGCGGTATT
6c (Cj1139c)	C*	1	2	GTAGTAGATGATTGTGGTAATGATAAA ATAGAATTGCTATTTACATGCTGG
7c (<i>cstIII</i>)	C*	1	2	TTGAAGATAGATATTTTGTGGGTAAA CTTTAAGTAGTGTTTTATGTCACTTGG
26e	Ε, Ο	1	2	ATATTGCCGTTAATTCATTACAGTT TTTGAGCGATAATTTTAAATCCATC
27e	E,H, O, P	1	2	GTAGATGATTGTTCAAATGATAATAGCACA GTTTTCAGATTCTAAGGCCATTATTCC

Table 7b. Primers for LOS classification.

*Sialylated LOS locus classes.

Primers for orf18df (5'-GCAGCAAGAAATAATGGTGTTAAAC-3', and 5'-AAATAATCATCCAAACATTCCTGAA-3') show bands for the nonsialylated LOS locus classes D, F, I, J, K, N, S, or Q and were used to attribute isolates non-typable using the primers above.

4.2.5 Serum resistance (IV)

A serum-sensitivity assay of the *C. jejuni* bacteremia isolates was performed as described (Blaser et al., 1985; Guerry et al., 2000). The same pool of normal human serum (NHS) from the blood samples of ten healthy blood donors served for all experiments. Heat-inactivated NHS (HINHS) was prepared by placing the test tubes in a waterbath of 56°C for 45 min. Bacterial cells from the 73 *C. jejuni* isolates were cultured in Brucella broth (Becton Dickinson) overnight, optic density at 405 nm was measured, and then bacterial density was adjusted to 5 x 10^4 CFU/mL by serial dilution. Next, $100 \ \mu$ l of the diluted bacterial suspension was added to 350 μ l of PBS and 50 μ l of NHS or HINHS, followed by incubation for 120 min at 37°C, after which 100 μ l aliquots were plated out on blood agar plates (Columbia agar II (Neogen, Lansing, MI, USA) containing 8% vol/vol of defibrinized horse blood), and the plates were incubated under microaerobic conditions for 24 h at 42°C. The

number of colonies recovered from the NHS plates, divided by the number recovered from HINHS plates, and multiplied by 100, gave the percentage (%) of bacterial survival. The final analysis used mean values of two or three separate experiments. *C. jejuni* NCTC 11168 and a *C. fetus* blood isolate received while collecting the *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* blood isolates, served as control organisms. The *C. fetus* isolate was incubated at 37°C.

4.3 Statistical analyses

The statistical analyses were performed with Graphpad Prism version 4.03 (Graphpad Software, San Diego, CA, USA), SPSS version 15.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA), and PASW 18 (SPSS Inc). Fisher's exact test and the χ^2 -test and Mantel-Haenszel test were used for comparison of categorical variables. The Mann-Whitney test was used for comparison of continuous variables. Multivariate analyses were performed with stepwise binary logistic regression models. All tests were two-sided, and a p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

4.4 Ethical considerations

The studies were approved by the Ethics Committee of the Hospital District of Helsinki and Uusimaa (Studies I and II). Written informed consent came from all patients– or their parents or guardians– included in Studies I and II. Studies III and IV were approved by the Finnish Ministry of Social Affairs and Health.

5. Results

5.1 Patient data

5.1.1 Overview of patient characteristics

Included in the studies were 192 patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis (I), 166 *C. jejuni* patients of whom were also included in Study II, and 76 patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia (III), 73 *C. jejuni* patients of whom were also included in Study IV.

A summary of patient characteristics, including a comparison between patients with either *C*. *jejuni*/ *C*. *coli* enteritis or bacteremia, is presented in Table 8.

Patient char	acteristics	Enteritis study,	Bacteremia study,
		2006 (I) N=192	1998-2007 (III) N=76
Age, years, median		39	46
Gender, pro	portion of male patients	42%	74%
T		4 40 (4 00 (77)	
Travel-asso	clated infection (%)	148/192 (77)	16/76 (21)
I ravel destil	nation:		0
	Baltic states/ Poland	11	2
	Bulgaria	21	
	Central Europe/ UK/ Ireland	20	3
	Cyprus/ Greece/ Italy	12	
	India/ Nepal	14	
	Northern Africa/ Middle East	8	1
	Spain/ Portugal	25	
	Sub-Saharan Africa	3	
	Sweden/ Denmark	2	2
Thailand/ Cambodia/ Malesia		14	3
Turkey		11	2
Other		5	1
Unknown		3	2
Underlying disease, any (%)		43/187 (23)	48/76 (63)
	alcohol abuse/ liver disease	0	6
	chronic pulmonary disease	0	5
	diabetes	3	4
	diverticulosis/ celiac disease	4	2
	dyspepsia/ gastritis/ GER/ peptic ulcer	12	5
	malignant disease	2	4
	HIV-infection	2	1
	hypertension	10	14
	rheumatoid arthritis/ fibromvalgia		1
Hospitalized	for ≥ 2 days (%)	31/190 (16)	67/75 (89)
Received ar	ntimicrobial treatment (%)	140/191 (73)	73/76 (96)
GER= gastr	oesophageal reflux		

Table 8. Background, travel, and treatment data for patients in Studies I and III.

The median age of the enteritis patients in Study I did not differ between the 26 patients infected by *C. coli* (38 years), and the 166 patients infected by *C. jejuni* (39 years), and the proportion of presumably imported infections was also similar between these two patient groups (85% and 76%).

Younger age-groups were slightly under-represented in Study I (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Age distribution of patients in Study I, for all *Campylobacter*-positive patients during the 6-month study period, and those included in the study.

A patient was classified as having an underlying disease if any medical condition or disease was either self-reported by the patient (I), or had been noted in the hospital records (III). In the bacteremia study, significant underlying diseases were further identified by classification of the illnesses according to the Charlson index score (Table 5), and the patients were divided into three groups; Charlson index scores 0, 1, and ≥ 2 . Although the majority of the bacteremic patients had some underlying disease, as shown in Table 8, the proportion of patients who had significant underlying diseases was clearly lower; only 30% were grouped with Charlson index score ≥ 1 .

Enteritis patients had underlying diseases less frequently than did bacteremic patients (Table 8), and although the data were self-reported by the patients, the more severe diseases seemed less frequent among these patients as well, compared to the bacteremic patients in Study III. Further, alcohol-related diseases and chronic pulmonary diseases seemed either under-reported or under-reported among the patients with enteritis, or over-represented among the bacteremia patients (Table 8).

The median age of the patients with *C. jejuni*/ *C. coli* bacteremia was 46 years, and the median age of patients with Charlson index scores 0, 1, and ≥ 2 was 41, 54, and 57 years. Patients without significant underlying diseases were younger than those with a Charlson index score of either 1 (p=0.002), or ≥ 2 (p=0.004).

5.1.2 Foreign travel before onset of illness

An infection was regarded as imported if the patient had traveled abroad within two weeks prior to the onset of symptoms (I, III). The majority of the patients in the *Campylobacter* enteritis study (I) had presumably been infected abroad (Table 8). When comparing characteristics of domestically infected patients and those patients with presumably imported infection in Study I, we found that the age distribution differed, but no significant differences in the distribution of any underlying diseases or gender were detectable (Table 9).

Table 9. Distribution of age, any underlying diseases, and gender among 44 patients with domestic and 148 patients with imported *C. jejuni*/*C. coli* enteritis (I).

Patient characteristic	Domestic infection	Imported infection	p-value
Age, years, median	46	37	0.03*
Any underlying disease, no. of patients (%)	13 (30%)	30 (21%)	0.2
Male gender, no. of patients (%)	21 (48%)	60 (41%)	0.4

In contrast to the finding that foreign travel was common among the patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis, only 21% of the *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia patients were known to have traveled abroad before onset of illness (Table 8). Further, some of the most common travel destinations among the patients with enteritis, for example Bulgaria, Spain, and India, were not included for patients with bacteremia.

5.1.3 Clinical signs and symptoms

Information regarding clinical symptoms and the course of disease came from either questionnaires filled in personally by the patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis (I), or collected from the medical records at the hospitals where the *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia episodes were diagnosed (III). The prevalences are summarized in Table 10.

Clinical symptom or sign		C. jejuni / C. coli en	teritis	C. jejuni / C. coli bacteremia	
		patients		patients	
		Reported	Answer	Reported	Mention rate
		no. of patients (%)	rate (%)	no. of patients (%)	(%)
Abdominal cra	amps			15/31 (48)	41
Abdominal pain		158/182 (87)	95	35/54 (65)	71
Diarrhea		191/192 (99)	100	60/64 (94)	84
	duration \leq 5 days	74/192 (39)		15/64 (23)	
	duration >5 days	112/192 (58)		22/64 (34)	
	duration ≥ 10 days	47/192 (24)			
	duration uncertain	5/192 (3)		23/64 (36)	
Bloody stools		24/133 (18)	69	7/24 (29)	32
Fever		160/183 (87)	95	64/75 (85)	99
Myalgia		73/174 (42)	91	11/15 (73)	20
Vomiting		48/179 (27)	93	13/43 (30)	57

Table 10. Prevalence of specific clinical signs and symptoms, either reported directly by patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis, or noted in the medical records of patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia.

Information on the occurrence and length of specific clinical symptoms seemed to be more detailed in the questionnaires returned by the patients with enteritis (I) than in the data from the medical records of the bacteremia episodes (III), as shown in Table 10.

Because of the low mention rate of many symptoms in the medical records, the actual proportion of all patients with bacteremia with any specific symptom is lower than the estimated prevalence, calculated for those patients for whom the presence or absence of the symptom was clearly stated in the medical records. For example, 79% (60/76) of the bacteremia patients had diarrhea, compared to 94% of those for whom this information was available, and similarly 9% (7/76) had bloody stools, compared to 29% of those clearly reported (Table 10).

When the patients with enteritis were divided into three major age-groups (< 30 years, 30-59 years, 60-89 years), to exclude age as a confounding factor, two evident age-related associations emerged. First, among those aged 0 to 29, bloody stools were associated with diarrhea lasting \geq 10 days (p=0.02). Second, among the patients aged 30 to 59, bloody stools were associated with domestic infection (p=0.01). None of the patients aged 60 to 89 reported bloody stools.

In addition to the apparent differences in symptoms between patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis and bacteremia, some variance appeared in the symptoms and findings between patients of different Charlson index scores in Study III. Patients with significant underlying diseases had less frequently fevers (>37.9°C), and generally lower levels of initial hemoglobin and C-reactive protein (CRP) levels, than did patients without significant underlying diseases (Table 11).

	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Symptom/finding	Charlson index score 0	Charlson index score ≥1	p-value
	(N=53)	(N=23)	
Diarrhea, patients	43	17	0.5
Fever, patients	48	16	0.02*
Hemoglobin, initial, median, g/L	144	128	0.01*
Leukocyte count, initial, median,	9.3	8.0	0.2
cells x 10 ⁹			
CRP, initial, median, mg/L	131	93	0.03*
CRP, peak, median, mg/L	152	151	0.5

Table 11. The most common symptoms and findings in patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia, among patients with Charlson index scores 0, and ≥ 1 .

Note. CRP= C-reactive protein.

5.1.4 Hospital treatment

Referral to diagnostic stool culture tests and initiation of treatment of a patient with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis was usually by a physician at a health care center, whereas all blood cultures were made at a hospital. Consequently, the majority of patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia were primarily examined at a hospital emergency clinic, but relatively fewer patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis were referred to a hospital. For analyses of factors which could lead to need for hospital treatment, patients treated at a hospital for at least two days were considered as hospitalized patients (I). The proportion of patients treated at a hospital for \geq 2 days was 16% among the patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia (Table 8).

5.1.5 Antimicrobial treatment

Information regarding the antimicrobial treatment came from questionnaires sent to the enteritis patients, and data on whether antimicrobials had been administered, which antimicrobial drugs were used, and the timing of antimicrobial treatment came from hospital records of patients treated for bacteremia. The majority of patients received antimicrobial treatment, 73% of the patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis (I), and 96% of the patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia (III) had received at least one antimicrobial agent (Table 8). The proportion of patients receiving antimicrobial therapy with agents from more than one group of antimicrobials was 19% among the enteritis patients, and 71% among those with bacteremia. The distributions of different antimicrobial agents used in the treatment of the patients included in Studies I and III are shown in Table 12.

Antimicrobial agent		Enteritis study (I)	Bacteremia study (III) N=76	
		N=192	At hospital	After hospitalization
Fluoroquinolo	one	68	44	46
	Ciprofloxacin	65	38	43
	Levofloxacin		5	2
	Norfloxacin	3		
	Ofloxacin		1	1
Macrolide		76	15	13
	Azithromycin	5	3	0
	Clarithromycin	0	2	1
	Erythromycin	33	5	5
	Roxithromycin	38	5	7
Aminoglycosi	de	1	6	0
Amoxicillin-cl	avulanic acid	0	0	1
Carbapenem		0	1	0
Cephalospori	n	8	38	7
Clindamycin		0	3	0
Doxycycline		3	1	1
Metronidazol	e	11	19	9
Penicillin		0	1	0
Vancomycin		0	1	0

5.1.6 Outcome of illness

Campylobacter enteritis patients (I)

The proportion of enteritis patients reporting post-infectious musculoskeletal symptoms was approximately 24%, but because these data came from the patients' questionnaires, no other information regarding follow-up or outcome was available.

Bloody stools, diarrhea lasting ≥ 10 days, and hospitalization were chosen as indicators for more severe disease, and respectively 18%, 24%, and 16% of the patients had reported these in the questionnaires (Tables 8 & 10).

No known fatalities occurred among patients in Study I.

Campylobacter bacteremia patients (III)

Outcome of *Campylobacter* bacteremia was measured by length of hospital treatment, by 30day and one-year mortality records, and by occurrence of severe post-infectious complications documented in the hospital treatment records.

Length of hospitalization was compared for patients with differing severity of underlying diseases. Patients without significant underlying diseases (Charlson index score 0) had a median duration of hospitalization of 3.5 days; the Mann-Whitney test revealed a significant difference in median duration of hospitalization of the patients with a Charlson index score of 1 (6 days; p=0.04), as well as for those patients whose Charlson index score was ≥ 2 (7.5 days, p=0.002).

Data regarding length of hospitalization for bacteremia patients, who had received either appropriate empirical antimicrobial treatment or inappropriate, delayed, or no antimicrobial treatment, are shown in Table 13.

Table 13. Median duration of hospitalization	1 of 75 patients	with C. jejuni	/ C. coli bacteremia, by
appropriateness of antimicrobial therapy.			

	All	Appropriate antimicrobial therapy			Inappropriate	р
	patients	All	Empirical	Delayed	or no	
	(N=75) ^a	(N=50)	(N=30)	(N=20)	antimicrobial	
					therapy	
					(N=25)	
Hospitalization (median,	4	5	4	6	3	
days)						
Comparison of patients						
receiving:						
Appropriate vs.		5			3	0.01*
inappropriate or no						
antimicrobial therapy						
Appropriate empirical vs.			4	6		0.03*
delayed appropriate						
antimicrobial therapy						
Appropriate empirical vs.			4		4	NS
delayed appropriate,						
inappropriate, or no						
antimicrobial therapy						
(N=45, median duration 4						
days)						

^aFor one patient this information was unavailable.

Two deaths occurred within 30 days after the *Campylobacter*-positive blood culture, and thus the mortality attributable to bacteremia was 3%. In addition, 6 patients died within one year

of the bacteremic episode, but these deaths were either attributed to severe underlying disease, old age, or trauma.

For the patients with bacteremia, clinical follow-up data were reviewed from the hospital archives of the same hospital where the blood culture had been performed; the time period for follow-up was one year, starting from the date of the blood culture. Although some of the patients had documented later visits to the hospital, hospital records revealed only a limited amount of information regarding the outcome of infection and possible complications.

One patient was diagnosed with Guillain-Barré syndrome, and after hospital treatment was referred to a neurological rehabilitation clinic.

Another patient was diagnosed with *C. jejuni* bacteremia and concurrent cervical spondylodiscitis. Microbiological verification from the drainage aspirate was lacking, but the patient was already receiving appropriate macrolide therapy at the time of the surgical procedure.

Appendectomy was performed on two patients while they were hospitalized, and two other patients were cholecystectomized during the one-year follow-up. Further, two patients were diagnosed with an inflammatory bowel disease within the follow-up period, as colonoscopy and biopsies revealed suspected findings of Crohn's disease in one patient, and lymphocytic colitis in another.

5.2 Bacterial isolates

5.2.1 Genotype distribution

PFGE analysis of fecal isolates (II)

All domestic fecal *Campylobacter* isolates from July through December 2006 were analyzed with PFGE, revealing a high diversity of PFGE profiles, as 33 different PFGE types were detected among the 40 domestic *C. jejuni* isolates included in Study II. Three isolates had an identical PFGE, and five other PFGE types had two isolates each.

Grouping domestic isolates further into crude clusters with \geq 70% similarity, revealed two larger crude clusters including 7 isolates each.

Of the imported 35 *Campylobacter* isolates from July 2006, all *C. jejuni* isolates were of different PFGE types.

MLST analysis of the blood isolates (IV)

All *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* blood isolates were typed with MLST; the 73 *C. jejuni* isolates were of 11 different clonal complexes (CC), and all three *C. coli* isolates were of the ST-828 CC (Table 14).

CC	Ν	Species	Sequence types (N)
ST-677	35	C. jejuni	677 (27), 794 (8)
ST-45	12	C. jejuni	11 (4), 45 (3), 137 (2), 230 (2), 5201 (1)
ST-21	10	C. jejuni	50 (5), 883 (2), 1948 (1), 5670 (1), uncertain* (1)
ST-48	2	C. jejuni	38 (1), 48 (1)
ST-464	2	C. jejuni	464 (1), 3140 (1)
ST-52	1	C. jejuni	52 (1)
ST-354	1	C. jejuni	3155 (1)
ST-443	1	C. jejuni	new ST (1)
ST-460	1	C. jejuni	606 (1)
ST-508	1	C. jejuni	508 (1)
ST-1332	1	C. jejuni	1332 (1)
ST-828	3	C. coli	825 (1), 872 (1), new ST (1)
Unassigned	5	C. jejuni	468 (1), 1080 (1), 1972 (1), 5673 (1), 5674 (1)
Mixed	1	C. jejuni	

Table 14. MLST clonal complexes of 73 C. jejuni and three C. coli blood isolates.

*Sequence data obtained for 5 loci.

There was an evident over-representation of ST-677 CC isolates among the *C. jejuni* blood isolates; the comparatively common ST-45 CC and ST-21 CC were also found more frequently than were other CCs, and of all *C. jejuni* blood isolates, 78% were of one of these three MLST CCs (Table 14).

Although the majority (71%) of the bacteremia isolates were isolated from blood cultures taken during the months of May through April, the seasonal peak was attributed to some MLST CCs more closely than to others; 100% of the isolates of the ST-677 CC, 67% of the isolates of the ST-45 CC, and 40% of the isolates of the ST-21 CC were diagnosed during the summer seasonal peak, May through August (Figure 6).



Figure 6 Seasonal distribution of bacteremia-associated *C. jejuni* MLST CCs.

5.2.2 Antimicrobial susceptibility

Minimal Inhibitory Concentration (MIC)

All isolates were tested with an agar dilution method to determine the MIC values for the antimicrobial agents most commonly used as treatment for *Campylobacter* infection. We tested by an agar-dilution method the susceptibilities of the bacterial isolates to ciprofloxacin (I,III); doxycycline, and erythromycin (II,III); as well as to clindamycin, gentamicin, meropenem, and metronidazole (III) (Table 15).

Table 15.Number of isolates resistant to different antimicrobial agents, among enteritis isolates, and in Study III.

Antimicrobial agent	No. of isolates resistant (%)				
	Enteritis isolates N=192	Bacteremia study (III) N=76			
ciprofloxacin	97 (51%)	5 (7%)			
clindamycin	n.a.	0			
doxycycline	73 (38%)	3 (4%)			
erythromycin	8 (4%)	0			
gentamicin	n.a.	0			
meropenem	n.a.	0			
metronidazole	n.a.	12 (16%)			

A clear difference emerged in resistance patterns between the enteritis and the bacteremia isolates. In both groups of isolates, antimicrobial resistance to ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, and erythromycin was detected almost exclusively in imported isolates. Of the isolates which were resistant to ciprofloxacin, all except one were of foreign origin (Figure 7).



Figure 7 Distribution of ciprofloxacin MICs for 192 *C. jejuni / C. coli* fecal isolates and 76 *C. jejuni / C. coli* blood isolates. Data labels are shown for the imported isolates (N=164).

Effect of ciprofloxacin resistance on disease outcome (I)

There was a significant difference in distribution of ciprofloxacin MICs between the patients who reported bloody stools (67% of their isolates were highly susceptible, MIC 0.06-0.25 mg/L, to ciprofloxacin), and those patients who reported noticing no bloody stools (p=0.04); a significant difference in the distribution of MICs was also evident between patients hospitalized ≥ 2 days (65% of their isolates were susceptible to ciprofloxacin), and those who had not been hospitalized ≥ 2 days (p=0.01). In the light of these results, a more severe outcome of infection seemed to be associated with a lack of ciprofloxacin resistance in the *Campylobacter* enteritis strains.

5.2.3 Putative virulence factors (II, IV)

The isolates were analyzed for the presence of the putative virulence factor genes *ceu*E, involved in iron uptake (II, IV), *cgt*B, involved in sialylation of LOS (II), *cia*B, encoding the *Campylobacter* invasion antigen (II, IV), *cj*0486, encoding a putative fucose permease (II, IV), *pld*A, encoding phospholipase A (II), *vir*B11 of the pVir plasmid (II, IV), and *wla*N, involved in sialylation of LOS (II), and the operon *cdt*ABC, encoding the cytolethal distending toxin (II), as well as for the production of GGT (II, IV) (Table 16).

Table 16. Prevalence of the putative virulence factor genes *ceuE*, *cgtB*, *ciaB*, *cj*0486, *pldA*, *virB*11, and *wlaN*, as well as the operon *cdtABC* among *C*. *jejuni* isolates in Studies II and IV.

Study	<i>cdt</i> ABC	<i>ceu</i> E	<i>cgt</i> B	<i>cia</i> B	<i>cj</i> 0486	pldA	<i>vir</i> B11	<i>wla</i> N
П	131	142 (86%)	31	164 (99%)	81 (49%)	101	4 (2%)	39
	(79%)		(19%)			(61%)		(23%)
IV	n.a.*	71 (97%)	n.a.*	73 (100%)	17 (23%)	n.a.*	2 (3%)	n.a.*

*n.a.=not available.

GGT production was detected in 25/166 (15%) of the *C. jejuni* enteritis isolates, and in 13/73 (18%) of the *C. jejuni* blood isolates. It should be noted that the proportion of *cj*0486-positive isolates was significantly higher among the *C. jejuni* enteritis patients than among the *C. jejuni* bacteremia patients (Table 16; p=0.0002).

Associations between putative virulence factors and disease among C. jejuni enteritis patients (II)

Univariate analyses revealed that bloody stools reported by the patients were a clinical sign associated with the presence of gene cgtB (p=0.03), and the production of GGT (p=0.03). The absence of the gene *ceuE* was associated with hospitalization (p=0.03). Isolates shown to produce GGT were associated with ciprofloxacin susceptibility (p=0.001), and doxycycline susceptibility (p=0.003), while isolates positive for either *ceuE* or *cj*0486 were associated with resistance to ciprofloxacin (p<0.001, p=0.005, respectively), and resistance to doxycycline (p<0.0001, p=0.002). Those isolates which were positive for either *ceuE* or *cj*0486 were associated with imported infection (p<0.0001), while isolates which produced GGT were associated with domestic infection (p<0.0001).

All results could not be analyzed by multivariate analysis, due to missing data. When those factors possible to test with a multivariate analysis model underwent testing, the only associations remaining significant were those with production of GGT, and the presence of genes *ceu*E or *cj*0486, compared to the origin of infection. Isolates which produced GGT were significantly associated with domestically acquired infection (OR 8.7, p<0.0001), and isolates positive for *ceu*E or *cj*0486 were significantly associated with infection of presumably foreign origin (OR 6.7, p<0.0001, respectively).

Associations between virulence factors and the C. jejuni MLST CCs of the bacteremia isolates (IV)

Certain putative virulence factors were associated with certain MLST CCs. Isolates of the ST-45 CC were mostly GGT positive (83%), compared to only three other GGT-positive strains (p<0.0001). The fucose permease gene cj0486 was associated with ST-21 CC isolates (100% of ST-21 CC cj0486 positive, vs. 14 % of all other isolates; p <0.0001). All isolates were ciaB positive, all isolates except two were virB11 negative, and all isolates except two ceuE positive (Table 16). All the 35 ST-677 CC isolates were cj0486 negative and GGT negative. The most important putative virulence factor associations are summarized in Figure 8.



Figure 8 Summary of the associations of some putative virulence factors with origin of infection among *C. jejuni* fecal isolates (II), and with certain MLST CCs among the *C. jejuni* blood isolates (IV).

Sialylated LOS (IV)

Only 17 (23%) of the 73 *C. jejuni* blood culture isolates in Study IV had a gene profile indicating that these isolates had sialylated LOS in their outer membranes. In total, four isolates had LOS locus class A1, five isolates had LOS locus class B2, and eight isolates had LOS locus class C. *C. jejuni* blood isolates with sialylated LOS were associated with the

presence of gene cj0486 (p<0.0001), and those patients infected by a *C. jejuni* isolate with sialylated LOS had significant underlying diseases (Charlson index score ≥ 1) more often than the other patients (p=0.02). However, no difference existed in the duration of hospitalization among those patients infected by a *C. jejuni* isolate with either sialylated or nonsialylated LOS.

All isolates of the ST-677 CC, as well as the ST-45 CC, belonged to one of the nonsialylated LOS locus classes E, H, O or P. CCs associated with sialylated LOS were ST-21 CC (LOS locus classes A1 and C), ST-48 CC (LOS locus class B2), and ST-464 CC (LOS locus class B2). All *C. jejuni* isolates with sialylated LOS locus class C were of the ST-21 CC.

5.2.4 Serum resistance (IV)

Between *C. jejuni* isolates of different MLST complexes susceptibility to NHS varied significantly; isolates of the ST-677 CC were significantly less susceptible to NHS than were all other isolates (p<0.0001), whereas the isolates of the ST-45 CC were significantly more susceptible to NHS than were all other isolates (p<0.0001).

No significant difference emerged in susceptibility to NHS of the *C. jejuni* blood isolates with nonsialylated LOS (27% bacterial survival, median), compared to that of isolates with sialylated LOS (15% bacterial survival, median) (p=0.28), and the serum susceptibility of *C. jejuni* isolated from the blood of patients with or without significant underlying diseases did not differ statistically (patients with Charlson index score 0 compared to all others, p=0.7) (Figure 9).



Figure 9 Scatter plot of the values and medians of bacterial survival (%), showing the serum susceptibility pattern of *C. jejuni* blood isolates with sialylated or nonsialylated LOS, as well as for the same isolates according to the Charlson index score of the host.

6. Discussion

6.1 Effect of ciprofloxacin resistance on outcome of *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* infection (I, III)

No consensus exists in the literature regarding the effect of antimicrobial resistance of C. *jejuni* on the severity of symptoms or the disease outcome. Fluoroquinolone resistance may impair the fitness of C. jejuni and C. coli (Zeitouni & Kempf, 2011), but the opposite effect was earlier noted for C. jejuni (Luo et al., 2005). Some studies have proposed a link between ciprofloxacin resistance and more severe infections (Engberg et al., 2004; Nelson et al., 2004; Helms et al., 2005), while others have shown no difference in the length or severity of symptoms (The Campylobacter Sentinel Surveillance Scheme Collaborators, 2002; Unicomb et al., 2006). Further, a re-analysis of some of these conflicting data is in line with those studies which found no association between ciprofloxacin resistance and severe infection (Wassenaar et al., 2007). Our results support those of the re-analysis, as we found no evidence that ciprofloxacin-resistant isolates would have caused a more severe disease than did the isolates susceptible to ciprofloxacin. Conversely, the trend was toward those isolates highly susceptible to ciprofloxacin causing more severe disease, characterized by more frequently reported bloody stools, as well as need for hospital treatment. Moreover, the clear majority of blood culture isolates, which per definition caused a more severe disease, were susceptible to ciprofloxacin. If ciprofloxacin resistance were of importance for the disease outcome, then one would expect C. jejuni and C. coli bacteremia isolates resistant to ciprofloxacin to be more prevalent in general.

The main weaknesses in our study were that the response rate was quite low, that the younger age groups were somewhat under-represented, and that not all patients had answered all questions clearly enough to be included in the analyses. However, more than half of all patients who had a *Campylobacter*-positive stool sample within the HUSLAB area during the six-month study period were included in the study, and all age groups were fairly well represented among our patients. A general problem with questionnaire-based studies is that patients may have difficulties remembering specific details such as the exact duration of a symptom or facts concerning the medication.

The fact that the association between domestically acquired infection and bloody stools was detected only among patients aged 30 to 59 is of specific interest. This particular age group was well-represented and included the majority of the patients in Study I. Among the middle-aged, the association between bloody stools and domestically acquired *Campylobacter* infection was valid, and had the answer rate been higher generally, this association may have been more evident in some other age-groups as well. The younger patients typically had bloody stools in combination with a longer duration of diarrhea, and this might be a finding which reflects the absence of immunity among patients in developed countries (Blaser, 1997). Thus, it seems logical that this association was found among the younger patients. Intriguingly, none of the patients aged 60 to 89 reported bloody stools.

These results suggest a link may exist between the absence of ciprofloxacin resistance to the severity of symptoms experienced by patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* enteritis, or domestic isolates in Finland may harbor some specific virulence traits which lead to more severe infection. On the other hand, it is possible that because the risk for contracting gastrointestinal pathogens while traveling abroad is higher than otherwise, patients may become infected by less virulent isolates abroad more easily, whereas partial immunity to those isolates encountered domestically may actually lead to more frequent detection of particularly virulent domestic isolates. Further, in theory, patients with imported infection may have felt more concerned about their infection and thus may have contacted their health care units more easily than those patients who had not traveled abroad prior to onset of illness. This may have led to an over-representation of patients with imported infection in Study I. If so, ciprofloxacin-resistant isolates from patients with less severe symptoms may be comparatively more common, especially among the younger patients; this may have affected the analyses.

6.2 Virulence factor profiles of *C. jejuni* isolates (II, IV)

Although several virulence factors have been proposed to be of importance for motility, adhesion, colonization, invasion, iron uptake, metabolism, and survival of *C. jejuni* in the human host, none of those studied have been clearly linked to a more severe outcome of human disease. For example, both the pVir plasmid (Bacon et al., 2000), and CiaB (Konkel et al., 1999), have been proposed to somehow affect the invasiveness of *C. jejuni*. On the other hand, pVir has been very uncommon in clinical isolates (Talukder et al., 2008), and while *cia*B is commonly detected in clinical isolates (Datta et al, 2003; Talukder et al., 2008), it has even been negatively associated with invasiveness *in vitro* (Fearnley et al., 2008), but information on the prevalence of *cj*0486 in clinical isolates is scarce. GGT has so far been shown to affect the colonization potential of *C. jejuni* only in animal models (Hofreuter et al., 2007).

The prevalence of the putative virulence factor genes *ceu*E, *cgt*B, *cia*B, *cj*0486, *pld*A, *vir*B11, and *wla*N, and the gene cluster *cdt*ABC, as well as the production of GGT were studied for a well-characterized patient material. In general, the virulence factor profiles of *C. jejuni* isolates were quite similar to those described in the literature (Datta et al, 2003; Talukder et al., 2008). Most evidently, *vir*B11 was very rare, and *cia*B very common among the isolates. However, our major findings were that the domestic and presumably imported *C. jejuni* fecal isolates differed from each other not only regarding the susceptibility to antimicrobial agents, but also when comparing putative virulence factor profiles. The imported isolates were significantly more likely to harbor the genes *cj*0486 and *ceu*E, as compared to the domestic isolates, which were associated with the ability to produce GGT. This suggests significant geographical variation in bacterial characteristics among the *C. jejuni* isolates which cause enteric disease in humans.

We noted some associations between certain virulence factors and clinical characteristics. Both production of GGT and the presence of the gene cgtB, encoding a galactosyltranferase which is present in some isolates with sialylated LOS, were associated in the univariate analyses with bloody stools. These findings could not, however, be verified in a multivariate model, due to the relatively large amount of missing data regarding this particular clinical finding. Another association which could not be confirmed in a multivariate analysis was whether those isolates which lacked the *ceu*E gene were to some degree associated with hospitalization lasting at least two days.

The putative virulence factor profiles of the *C. jejuni* blood isolates were essentially similar to those of the *C. jejuni* enteritis isolates, with the exception of the fucose permease gene cj0486, which was significantly more prevalent among the enteritis isolates. A possible explanation for this finding may be that foreign travel was comparatively uncommon among the bacteremia patients, and because cj0486 was associated in Study II with imported isolates the proportion of cj0486-positive isolates was lower among the bacteremia patients due to the differences in travel history between the enteritis and the bacteremia patients. However, no association appeared between foreign travel and cj0486 among the bacteremia patients. A more logical explanation would be that because the isolates of the ST-677 CC, all of which were cj0486 negative, were so clearly over-represented among the bacteremia isolates, the proportion of cj0486 obviously also differed from that of the enteritis isolates.

6.3 Patient characteristics and treatment aspects of *Campylobacter* bacteremia patients (III)

In studying the outcome and severity of an infection, bacteremia is an important complication to consider. Regarding *Campylobacter* bacteremia, only a few studies have presented epidemiological data from a wider geographical region (Skirrow et al., 1993; Nielsen et al., 2010a) or sufficiently detailed clinical information enabling analyses of the impact of antimicrobial therapy (Pigrau et al., 1997; Tee & Mijch, 1998; Pacanowski et al., 2008; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010). Furthermore, the species of the isolates included have not been typed by molecular methods. A need for studies which have combined these data is therefore evident.

The basis for the current study was a unique clinical series of patients with *Campylobacter* bacteremia from a 10-year period in Finland. Most importantly, the characteristics of the human hosts and of the corresponding bacterial isolates could be compared through linkage of the information from hospital records to the *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* isolates. Further, all isolates were verified to species level by PCR, which provided sufficient reliability for analyses of the bacterial isolates.

Surprisingly, the majority of the patients had no significant underlying diseases, and all agegroups were represented, although the median age was lower than expected, 46 years. These findings differed much from several earlier studies, both with regard to the proportion of underlying diseases (Pigrau et al., 1997; Pacanowski et al., 2008; Nielsen et al., 2010a; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010), as well as to patient age (Pacanowski et al., 2008; Nielsen et al., 2010a; Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010). However, the results of the largest epidemiological *Campylobacter* bacteremia study to date (Skirrow et al., 1993) are in line with ours.

Unexpectedly, we found no evident effect of appropriate empirical antimicrobial treatment, on either the duration of hospitalization, or on the mortality attributable to the infection. This finding contrasts with the results of a French study which found the absence of treatment with appropriate antimicrobials to be associated with death (Pacanowski et al., 2008), but in line with a Spanish study finding no such significant association (Fernández-Cruz et al., 2010).

The low mortality rate in this study (only two patients died within 30 days after the blood culture) was in line with that of a recent Danish study (Nielsen et al., 2010a). Two other of our patients developed severe complications, one patient being diagnosed with GBS, and another on MRI with cervical spondylodiscitis. These patients were not known to have any severe underlying medical conditions, and it would be tempting to suggest that some characteristics of the bacterial isolates enabled the development of these complications. We further noted that comparatively few of our patients with bacteremia had traveled abroad, compared to those infected by *Campylobacter* in Finland in general (I), and the majority of the bacterial isolates were susceptible to all antimicrobial agents we tested. These results actually support findings in Study II, that the domestic infections in Finland may in fact have some characteristics or traits leading in the human host to a more severe disease.

6.4 Clonal distribution, LOS locus classification, and serum susceptibility among *C. jejuni* bacteremia isolates (IV)

C. jejuni is known to be weakly clonal and highly diverse, as also indicated by the fact that over 5000 registered STs have been submitted to the PubMLST database (http://pubmlst.org/campylobacter). Isolates of the ST-21 CC and the ST-45 CC are generally common (Dingle et al., 2001; Lévesque et al., 2008), but ST-677 CC has been uncommon among human *C. jejuni* isolates. In the light of these data, it was surprising to find that among the *C. jejuni* blood isolates the ST-677 CC was so clearly over-represented. Nevertheless, in Finnish studies, covering essentially the same time period as ours (Kärenlampi et al., 2007; deHaan et al., 2010), isolates of the ST-677 CC have been relatively prevalent (Kärenlampi et al., 2007), although the proportion of these isolates among human *C. jejuni* infections has been diminishing (deHaan et al., 2010).

Intriguingly, though, the ST-677 CC isolates also differed from the other *C. jejuni* isolates in many other aspects. All the isolates of the ST-677 CC had nonsialylated LOS as well as very similar profiles of putative virulence factors, and most importantly of all *C. jejuni* blood isolates the ST-677 CC isolates were significantly more serum resistant. *C. jejuni* blood isolates are not always serum resistant (Blaser et al., 1985). However, *C. jejuni* and *C. coli* isolates from systemic isolation sites, indicating those that spread hematogenously, have been serum resistant (Blaser et al., 1986). It can thus be argued that serum resistance may actually be necessary for development of extraintestinal *Campylobacter* infection foci due to

hematogenous spread, but not specifically for the development of *C. jejuni* bacteremia. In the latter study by Blaser et al, the majority of patients were either <1 year or ≥ 60 years old, and half had some kind of medical condition probably predisposing the patient to extraintestinal infection. It should therefore be pointed out that the majority of patients in the current study were neither from the ends of the age spectrum, nor did they commonly have severe underlying diseases. Further, it is important to note that although serum resistance was not an absolute prerequisite for the *C. jejuni* isolates to spread into the bloodstream, the isolates of the ST-677 CC may have predominated due to the fact that these particular isolates were more serum resistant than the isolates of other MLST complexes.

The role of differing outer membrane and capsule structures with regard to the serum resistance of *C. jejuni* remains unexplained. An earlier experimental study proposed that a *C. jejuni* mutant with a nonsialylated LOS becomes more susceptible to human serum than does the wild type, indicating that sialylated LOS may play a role in the development of serum resistance (Guerry et al., 2000). However, another group recently suggested that capsule expression is more likely to be of importance for complement resistance than is LOS (Keo et al., 2011). Only 23% of our *C. jejuni* blood isolates had a sialylated LOS locus class, and those isolates were not more serum resistance in *C. jejuni* blood isolates. Hence, no evident link between sialylated LOS and serum resistance in *C. jejuni* blood isolates emerged in our study, and sialylated LOS seems not to be necessary for the development of *C. jejuni* bacteremia. Interestingly, isolates with a sialylated LOS locus class were significantly more often from patients with a Charlson index score ≥ 1 . This finding further puts into question the role of sialylated LOS in *C. jejuni* bacteremia of patients without significant underlying diseases.

In conclusion, it is strongly emphasized that in order to understand the real significance of certain bacterial characteristics for the outcome of *Campylobacter* infection, experimental *in vitro* models must be complemented with studies on clinical, non-selected, series.

7. Conclusions

- 1. Ciprofloxacin resistance was not associated with a more severe course of *Campylobacter* infection; rather, isolates highly susceptible to ciprofloxacin seemed to cause more severe infection, characterized by bloody stools and need for hospitalization (I). Further, the majority of *Campylobacter* bacteremia isolates were susceptible to all antimicrobial agents tested, including ciprofloxacin (III).
- 2. None of the putative virulence factor genes *ceu*E, *cgt*B, *cia*B, *cj*0486, *pld*A, *vir*B11, or *wla*N, nor the operon *cdt*ABC, nor production of GGT, were significantly, or independently associated with more severe symptoms among the *C. jejuni* enteritis patients. However, multivariate analyses revealed that *ceu*E and *cj*0486 were significantly associated with *C. jejuni* isolates of foreign origin, and production of GGT was associated with isolates of domestic origin (II). The *C. jejuni* bacteremia isolates essentially showed a similar proportion as being positive for the genes *ceu*E, *cia*B, *vir*B11, as well as the expression of GGT, but the fucose permease gene *cj*0486 was comparatively less prevalent among the bacteremia-associated isolates than among the enteritis-associated ones.
- 3. The patients with *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia were moderately young, and the majority had no significant underlying diseases. Appropriate antimicrobial treatment did not seem to affect the outcome of *C. jejuni* or *C. coli* bacteremia to any greater extent, neither with regard to <30 d mortality, nor when the duration of hospitalization was compared to that of those who received inappropriate, delayed appropriate, or no antimicrobial therapy (III).
- 4. Among the *C. jejuni* bacteremia isolates a striking over-representation of isolates of the otherwise quite uncommon ST-677 CC occurred. Although serum resistance was not needed for *C. jejuni* to cause a bacteremic infection, the isolates of the ST-677 CC were actually significantly more serum resistant than others. Only 23% of blood culture isolates had sialylated LOS, but sialylated LOS, and particularly LOS locus class C, was associated with patients' having significant underlying diseases. These results indicate that certain genotypes of *C. jejuni* may lead to bacteremia more easily than others (IV).

8. References

Aarestrup FM, Engberg J. Antimicrobial resistance of thermophilic *Campylobacter*. Vet Res 2001;32:311-21.

Allos BM, Lippy FT, Carlsen A, Washburn RG, Blaser MJ. *Campylobacter jejuni* strains from patients with Guillain-Barré syndrome. Emerg Infect Dis 1998;4:263-8.

Allos BM. *Campylobacter jejuni* infections: update on emerging issues and trends. Clin Infect Dis 2001;32:1201-6.

Alm RA, Guerry P, Trust TJ. Significance of duplicated flagellin genes in *Campylobacter*. J Mol Biol 1993;230:359-63.

Anders BJ, Lauer BA, Paisley JW, Reller LB. Double-blind placebo controlled trial of erythromycin for treatment of *Campylobacter* enteritis. Lancet 1982;1:131-2.

Bacon DJ, Alm RA, Burr DH, Hu L, Kopecko DJ, Ewing CP, Trust TJ, Guerry P. Involvement of a plasmid in virulence of *Campylobacter jejuni* 81-176. Infect Immun 2000;68:4384-90.

Barnes IH, Bagnall MC, Browning DD, Thompson SA, Manning G, Newell DG. Gammaglutamyl transpeptidase has a role in the persistent colonization of the avian gut by *Campylobacter jejuni*. Microb Pathog 2007;43:198-207.

Bessède E, Delcamp A, Sifré E, Buissonnière A, Mégraud F. New methods for detection of campylobacters in stool samples in comparison to culture. J Clin Microbiol 2011;49:941-4.

Black RE, Levine MM, Clements ML, Hughes TP, Blaser MJ. Experimental *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in humans. J Infect Dis 1988;157:472-9.

Blaser MJ, Berkowitz ID, LaForce FM, Cravens J, Reller LB, Wang WL. *Campylobacter* enteritis: clinical and epidemiologic features. Ann Intern Med 1979;91:179-85.

Blaser MJ, Parsons RB, Wang WL. Acute colitis caused by *Campylobacter fetus* ss. *jejuni*. Gastroenterology 1980;78:448-53.

Blaser MJ, Reller LB. Campylobacter enteritis. N Engl J Med 1981;305:1444-52.

Blaser MJ, Taylor DN, Feldman RA. Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections. Epidemiol Rev 1983;5:157-76.

Blaser MJ, Black RE, Duncan DJ, Amer J. *Campylobacter jejuni*-specific serum antibodies are elevated in healthy Bangladeshi children. J Clin Microbiol 1985;21:164-7.

Blaser MJ, Smith PF, Kohler PF. Susceptibility of *Campylobacter* isolates to the bactericidal activity of human serum. J Infect Dis 1985;151:227-35.

Blaser MJ, Perez GP, Smith PF, Patton C, Tenover FC, Lastovica AJ, Wang WI. Extraintestinal *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* infections: host factors and strain characteristics. J Infect Dis 1986;153:552-9.

Blaser MJ. Epidemiologic and clinical features of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections. J Infect Dis 1997;176:S103-5.

Bremell T, Bjelle A, Svedhem A. Rheumatic symptoms following an outbreak of campylobacter enteritis: a five year follow up. Ann Rheum Dis 1991;50:934-8.

Broman T, Palmgren H, Bergström S, Sellin M, Waldenström J, Danielsson-Tham ML, Olsen B. *Campylobacter jejuni* in black-headed gulls (*Larus ridibundus*): prevalence, genotypes, and influence on *C. jejuni* epidemiology. J Clin Microbiol 2002;40:4594-602.

Butzler JP, Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis. Clin Gastroenterol 1979;8:737-65.

Butzler JP. Campylobacter, from obscurity to celebrity. Clin Microbiol Infect 2004;10:868-76.

Cagliero C, Mouline C, Payot S, Cloeckaert A. Involvement of the CmeABC efflux pump in the macrolide resistance of *Campylobacter coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2005;56:948-50.

Cagliero C, Mouline C, Cloeckaert A, Payot S. Synergy between efflux pump CmeABC and modifications in ribosomal proteins L4 and L22 in conferring macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006;50:3893-6.

Campylobacter Sentinel Surveillance Scheme Collaborators. Ciprofloxacin resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*: case-case analysis as a tool for elucidating risks at home and abroad. J Antimicrob Chemother 2002;50:561-8.

Carvalho AC, Ruiz-Palacios GM, Ramos-Cervantes P, Cervantes LE, Jiang X, Pickering LK. Molecular characterization of invasive and noninvasive *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* isolates. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39:1353-9.

Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. J Chronic Dis 1987;40:373-83.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute/NCCLS. Performance for antimicrobial susceptibility testing: fifteenth informational supplement. CLSI/NCCLS document M100-S15. Wayne, PA: CLSI 2005.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; approved guideline. CLSI document M45-A. Wayne, PA: CLSI 2006.

Coker AO, Isokpehi RD, Thomas BN, Amisu KO, Obi CL. Human campylobacteriosis in developing countries. Emerg Infect Dis 2002;8:237-44.

Cullen TW, Trent MS. A link between the assembly of flagella and lipooligosaccharide of the Gram-negative bacterium *Campylobacter jejuni*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:5160-5.

Datta S, Niwa H, Itoh K. Prevalence of 11 pathogenic genes of *Campylobacter jejuni* by PCR in strains isolated from humans, poultry meat and broiler and bovine faeces. J Med Microbiol 2003;52:345-8.

Debruyne L, Samyn E, De Brandt E, Vandenberg O, Heyndrickx M, Vandamme P. Comparative performance of different PCR assays for the identification of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Res Microbiol 2008;159:88-93.

de Haan CP, Kivistö R, Hakkinen M, Rautelin H, Hänninen ML. Decreasing trend of overlapping multilocus sequence types between human and chicken *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates over a decade in Finland. Appl Environ Microbiol 2010;76:5228-36.

Dekeyser P, Gossuin-Detrain M, Butzler JP, Sternon J. Acute enteritis due to related vibrio: first positive stool cultures. J Infect Dis 1972;125:390-2.

Denis M, Soumet C, Rivoal K, Ermel G, Blivet D, Salvat G, Colin P. Development of a m-PCR assay for simultaneous identification of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli*. Lett Appl Microbiol 1999;29:406-10.

Dingle KE, Colles FM, Wareing DR, Ure R, Fox AJ, Bolton FE, Bootsma HJ, Willems RJ, Urwin R, Maiden MC. Multilocus sequence typing system for *Campylobacter jejuni*. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39:14-23.

Endtz HP, Ruijs GJ, van Klingeren B, Jansen WH, van der Reyden T, Mouton RP. Quinolone resistance in campylobacter isolated from man and poultry following the introduction of fluoroquinolones in veterinary medicine. J Antimicrob Chemother 1991a;27:199-208.

Endtz HP, Ruijs GJ, Zwinderman AH, van der Reijden T, Biever M, Mouton RP. Comparison of six media, including a semisolid agar, for the isolation of various *Campylobacter* species from stool specimens. J Clin Microbiol 1991b;29:1007-10.

Engberg J, Gerner-Smidt P, Scheutz F, Nielsen EM, On SL, Mølbak K. Water-borne *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in a Danish town- a 6-week continuous source outbreak. Clin Microbiol Infect 1998;4:648-56.

Engberg J, Aarestrup FM, Taylor DE, Gerner-Smidt P, Nachamkin I. Quinolone and macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli*: resistance mechanisms and trends in human isolates. Emerg Infect Dis 2001;7:24-34.

Engberg J, Neimann J, Nielsen EM, Aerestrup FM, Fussing V. Quinolone-resistant *Campylobacter* infections: risk factors and clinical consequences. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:1056-63.

European Food Safety Authority. The community summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents, antimicrobial resistance and foodborne outbreaks in the European Union in 2005. Available at: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/doc/94r.pdf

European Food Safety Authority. The European Union summary report on trends and sources of zoonoses, zoonotic agents and food-borne outbreaks in 2009. Available at: http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/efsajournal/pub/2090.htm

Fearnley C, Manning G, Bagnall M, Javed MA, Wassenaar TM, Newell DG. Identification of hyperinvasive Campylobacter jejuni strains isolated from poultry and human clinical sources. J Med Microbiol 2008;57:570-80.

Fernández-Cruz A, Muñoz P, Mohedano R, Valerio M, Marin M, Alcalá L, Rodriguez-Créixems M, Cercenado E, Bouza E. *Campylobacter* bacteremia: clinical characteristics, incidence, and outcome over 23 years. Medicine (Baltimore) 2010;89:319-30.

Fouts DE, Mongodin EF, Mandrell RE, Miller WG, Rasko DA, Ravel J, Brinkac LM, DeBoy RT, Parker CT, Daugherty SC, Dodson RJ, Durkin AS, Madupu R, Sullivan SA, Shetty JU, Ayodeji MA, Shvartsbeyn A, Schatz MC, Badger JH, Fraser CM, Nelson KE. Major structural differences and novel potential virulence mechanisms from the genomes of multiple *Campylobacter* species. PLoS Biol 2005;3:e15.

Francioli P, Herzstein J, Grob JP, Vallotton JJ, Mombelli G, Glauser MP. *Campylobacter fetus* subspecies *fetus* bacteremia. Arch Intern Med 1985;145:289-92.

Friedman CR, Hoekstra RM, Samuel M, Marcus R, Bender J, Shiferaw B, Reddy S, Ahuja SD, Helfrick DL, Hardnett F, Carter M, Anderson B, Tauxe RV. Emerging Infections Program FoodNet Working Group. Risk factors for sporadic *Campylobacter* infection in the United States: A case-control study in FoodNet sites. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38:S285-96.

Frost JA, Gillespie IA, O'Brien SJ. Public health implications of campylobacter outbreaks in England and Wales, 1995-9: epidemiological and microbiological investigations. Epidemiol Infect 2002;128:111-8.

Fry BN, Feng S, Chen YY, Newell DG, Coloe PJ, Korolik V. The galE gene of *Campylobacter jejuni* is involved in lipopolysaccharide synthesis and virulence. Infect Immun 2000;68:2594-601.

Gazaigne L, Legrand P, Renaud B, Bourra B, Taillandier E, Brun-Buisson C, Lesprit P. *Campylobacter fetus* bloodstream infection: risk factors and clinical features. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008;27:185-9.

Ge B, McDermott PF, White DG, Meng J. Role of efflux pumps and topoisomerase mutations in fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005;49:3347-54.

Gibreel A, Kos VN, Keelan M, Trieber CA, Levesque S, Michaud S, Taylor DE. Macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*: molecular mechanism and stability of the resistance phenotype. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2005;49:2753-9.

Gibreel A, Taylor DE. Macrolide resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. J Antimicrob Chemother 2006;58:243-55.

Gibreel A, Wetsch NM, Taylor DE. Contribution of the CmeABC efflux pump to macrolide and tetracycline resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni*. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2007;51:3212-6.

Gilbert C, Winters D, O'Leary A, Slavik M. Development of a triplex PCR assay for the specific detection of *Campylobacter jejuni*, *Salmonella* spp., and *Escherichia coli* O157:H7. Mol Cell Probes 2003;17:135-8.

Gilbert M, Brisson JR, Karwaski MF, Michniewicz J, Cunningham AM, Wu Y, Young NM, Wakarchuk WW. Biosynthesis of ganglioside mimics in *Campylobacter jejuni* OH4384. Identification of the glycosyltransferase genes, enzymatic synthesis of model compounds, and characterization of nanomole amounts by 600-mhz (1)h and (13)c NMR analysis. J Biol Chem 2000;275:3896-906.

Gilbert M, Karwaski MF, Bernatchez S, Young NM, Taboada E, Michniewicz J, Cunningham AM, Wakarchuk WW. The genetic bases for the variation in the lipo-oligosaccharide of the mucosal pathogen, *Campylobacter jejuni*. Biosynthesis of sialylated ganglioside mimics in the core oligosaccharide. J Biol Chem 2002;277:327-37.

Gillespie IA, O'brien SJ, Frost JA, Tam C, Tompkins D, Neal KR, Syed Q, Farthing MJ. Investigating vomiting and/or bloody diarrhoea in *Campylobacter jejuni* infection. J Med Microbiol 2006;55:741-6.

Glass RI, Stoll BJ, Huq MI, Struelens MJ, Blaser M, Kibriya AK. Epidemiologic and clinical features of endemic *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in Bangladesh. J Infect Dis 1983;148:292-6.

Godschalk PC, Kuijf ML, Li J, St Michael F, Ang CW, Jacobs BC, Karwaski MF, Brochu D, Moterassed A, Endtz HP, van Belkum A, Gilbert M. Structural characterization of *Campylobacter jejuni* lipooligosaccharide outer cores associated with Guillain-Barre and Miller Fisher syndromes. Infect Immun 2007;75:1245-54.

Gonzalez M, Hakkinen M, Rautelin H, Hänninen ML. Bovine *Campylobacter jejuni* strains differ from human and chicken strains in an analysis of certain molecular genetic markers. Appl Environ Microbiol 2009;75:1208-10.

Goossens H, Henocque G, Kremp L, Rocque J, Boury R, Alanio G, Vlaes L, Hemelhof W, Van den Borre C, Macart M, Butzler JP. Nosocomial outbreak of *Campylobacter jejuni* meningitis in newborn infants. Lancet 1986;2:146-9.

Grant KA, Belandia IU, Dekker N, Richardson PT, Park SF. Molecular characterization of pldA, the structural gene for a phospholipase A from *Campylobacter coli*, and its contribution to cell-associated hemolysis. Infect Immun 1997;65:1172-80.

Guerrant RL, Lahita RG, Winn WC Jr, Roberts RB. Campylobacteriosis in man: pathogenic mechanisms and review of 91 bloodstream infections. Am J Med 1978;65:584-92.

Guerry P, Alm RA, Power ME, Logan SM, Trust TJ. Role of two flagellin genes in *Campylobacter* motility. J Bacteriol 1991;173:4757-64.

Guerry P, Ewing CP, Hickey TE, Prendergast MM, Moran AP. Sialylation of lipooligosaccharide cores affects immunogenicity and serum resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni*. Infect Immun 2000;68:6656-62.

Guerry P. Campylobacter flagella: not just for motility. Trends Microbiol 2007;15:456-61.

Gupta A, Nelson JM, Barrett TJ, Tauxe RV, Rossiter SP, Friedman CR, Joyce KW, Smith KE, Jones TF, Hawkins MA, Shiferaw B, Beebe JL, Vugia DJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Benson JA, Root TP, Angulo FJ. Antimicrobial resistance among *Campylobacter* strains, United States, 1997-2001. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:1102-9.

Habib I, Louwen R, Uyttendaele M, Houf K, Vandenberg O, Nieuwenhuis EE, Miller WG, van Belkum A, De Zutter L. Correlation between genotypic diversity, lipooligosaccharide gene locus class variation, and caco-2 cell invasion potential of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from chicken meat and humans: contribution to virulotyping. Appl Environ Microbiol 2009;75:4277-88.

Haddad N, Marce C, Magras C, Cappelier JM. An overview of methods used to clarify pathogenesis mechanisms of *Campylobacter jejuni*. J Food Prot 2010;73:786-802.

Hannu T, Mattila L, Rautelin H, Pelkonen P, Lahdenne P, Siitonen A, Leirisalo-Repo M. *Campylobacter*-triggered reactive arthritis: a population-based study. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2002;41:312-8.

Hariharan H, Sharma S, Chikweto A, Matthew V, DeAllie C. Antimicrobial drug resistance as determined by the E-test in *Campylobacter jejuni*, *C. coli*, and *C. lari* isolates from the ceca of broiler and layer chickens in Grenada. Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis 2009;32:21-8.

Harris NV, Weiss NS, Nolan CM. The role of poultry and meats in the etiology of *Campylobacter jejuni/coli* enteritis. Am J Public Health 1986;76:407-11.

Havelaar AH, van Pelt, Ang CW, Wagenaar JA, van Putten JP, Gross U, Newell DG. Immunity to *Campylobacter*: its role in risk assessment and epidemiology. Crit Rev Microbiol 2009;35:1-22.

Heikema AP, Bergman MP, Richards H, Crocker PR, Gilbert M, Samsom JN, van Wamel WJ, Endtz HP, van Belkum A. Characterization of the specific interaction between sialoadhesin and sialylated *Campylobacter jejuni* lipooligosaccharides. Infect Immun 2010;78:3237-46.

Helms M, Simonsen J, Olsen KE, Mølbak K. Adverse health events associated with antimicrobial drug resistance in *Campylobacter* species: a registry-based cohort study. J Infect Dis 2005;191:1050-5.

Hindiyeh M, Jense S, Hohmann S, Benett H, Edwards C, Aldeen W, Croft A, Daly J, Mottice S, Carroll KC. Rapid detection of *Campylobacter jejuni* in stool specimens by an enzyme immunoassay and surveillance for *Campylobacter upsaliensis* in the greater Salt Lake City area. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38:3076-9.

Hofreuter D, Tsai J, Watson RO, Novik V, Altman B, Benitez M, Clark C, Perbost C, Jarvie T, Du L, Galán JE. Unique features of a highly pathogenic *Campylobacter jejuni* strain. Infect Immun 2006;74:4694-707.

Hofreuter D, Novik V, Galán JE. Metabolic diversity in *Campylobacter jejuni* enhances specific tissue colonization. Cell host microbe 2008;4:425-33.

Humphrey T, O'Brien S, Madsen M. Campylobacters as zoonotic pathogens: a food production perspective. Int J Food Microbiol 2007;117:237-57.

Hänninen ML, Pajarre S, Klossner ML, Rautelin H. Typing of human *Campylobacter* isolates in Finland by pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J Clin Microbiol 1998;36:1787-9.

Hänninen ML, Perko-Mäkelä P, Pitkälä A, Rautelin H. A three-year study of *Campylobacter jejuni* genotypes in humans with domestically acquired infections and in chicken samples from the Helsinki area. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38:1998-2000.

Hänninen ML, Haajanen H, Pummi T, Wermundsen K, Katila ML, Sarkkinen H, Miettinen I, Rautelin H. Detection and typing of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* and analysis of indicator organisms in three waterborne outbreaks in Finland. Appl Environ Microbiol 2003;69:1391-6.

Iovine NM. Innate immunity in *Campylobacter* infections. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*, 3rd ed. 2008. ASM Press, Washington, DC. p. 333-350.

Janssen R, Krogfelt KA, Cawthraw SA, van Pelt W, Wagenaar JA, Owen RJ. Host-pathogen interactions in *Campylobacter* infections: the host perspective. Clin Microbiol Rev 2008;21:505-18.

Javed MA, Grant AJ, Bagnall MC, Maskell DJ, Newell DG, Manning G. Transposon mutagenesis in a hyper-invasive clinical isolate of *Campylobacter jejuni* reveals a number of genes with potential roles in invasion. Microbiology 2010;156:1134-43.

Johnson WM, Lior H. A new heat-labile cytolethal distending toxin (CLDT) produced by *Campylobacter* spp. Microb Pathog 1988;4:115-26.

Kahlmeter G, Brown DF, Goldstein FW, MacGowan AP, Mouton JW, Osterlund A, Rodloff A, Steinbakk M, Urbaskova P, Vatopoulos A. European harmonization of MIC breakpoints for antimicrobial susceptibility testing of bacteria. J Antimicrob Chemother 2003;52:145-8.

Kaldor J, Pritchard H, Serpell A, Metcalf W. Serum antibodies in *Campylobacter* enteritis. J Clin Microbiol 1983;18:1-4.

Kapperud G, Skjerve E, Bean NH, Ostroff SM, Lassen J. Risk factors for sporadic *Campylobacter* infections: results of a case-control study in southeastern Norway. J Clin Microbiol 1992;30:3117-21.

Keo T, Collins J, Kunwar P, Blaser MJ, Iovine NM. *Campylobacter* capsule and lipooligosaccharide confer resistance to serum and cationic antimicrobials. Virulence 2011;2:30-40.

Ketley JM. Pathogenesis of enteric infection by Campylobacter. Microbiology 1997;143:5-21.

King EO. Human infections with *Vibrio fetus* and a closely related vibrio. J Infect Dis 1957;101:119-28.

Koga M, Gilbert M, Takahashi M, Li J, Koike S, Hirata K, Yuki N. Comprehensive analysis of bacterial risk factors for the development of Guillain-Barré syndrome after *Campylobacter jejuni* enteritis. J Infect Dis 2006;193:547-55.

Konkel ME, Garvis SG, Tipton SL, Anderson DE Jr, Cieplak W Jr. Identification and molecular cloning of a gene encoding a fibronectin-binding protein (CadF) from *Campylobacter jejuni*. Mol Microbiol 1997;24:953-63.

Konkel ME, Kim BJ, Rivera-Amill V, Garvis SG. Bacterial secreted proteins are required for the internalization of *Campylobacter jejuni* into cultured mammalian cells. Mol Microbiol 1999;32:691-701.

Konkel ME, Klena JD, Rivera-Amill V, Monteville MR, Biswas D, Raphael B, Mickelson J. Secretion of virulence proteins from *Campylobacter jejuni* is dependent on a functional flagellar export apparatus. J Bacteriol 2004;186:3296-303.

Korczak BM, Zurfluh M, Emler S, Kuhn-Oertli J, Kuhnert P. Multiplex strategy for multilocus sequence typing, fla typing, and genetic determination of antimicrobial resistance of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* isolates collected in Switzerland. J Clin Microbiol 2009;47:1996-2007.

Kuijf ML, Samsom JN, van Rijs W, Bax M, Huizinga R, Heikema AP, van Doorn PA, van Belkum A, van Kooyk Y, Burgers PC, Luider TM, Endtz HP, Nieuwenhuis EE, Jacobs BC. TLR4-mediated sensing of *Campylobacter jejuni* by dendritic cells is determined by sialylation. J Immunol 2010;185:748-55.

Kulkarni SP, Lever S, Logan JM, Lawson AJ, Stanley J, Shafi MS. Detection of campylobacter species: a comparison of culture and polymerase chain reaction based methods. J Clin Pathol 2002;55:749-53.

Kuschner RA, Trofa AF, Thomas RJ, Hoge CW, Pitarangsi C, Amato S, Olafson RP, Echeverria P, Sadoff JC, Taylor DN. Use of azithromycin for the treatment of *Campylobacter* enteritis in travelers to Thailand, an area where ciprofloxacin resistance is prevalent. Clin Infect Dis 1995;21:536-541.

Kuusi M, Klemets P, Miettinen I, Laaksonen I, Sarkkinen H, Hänninen ML, Rautelin H, Kela E, Nuorti JP. An outbreak of gastroenteritis from a non-chlorinated community water supply. J Epidemiol Community Health 2004;58:273-7.

Kuusi M, Nuorti JP, Hänninen ML, Koskela M, Jussila V, Kela E, Miettinen I, Ruutu P. A large outbreak of campylobacteriosis associated with a municipal water supply in Finland. Epidemiol Infect 2005;133:593-601.

Kärenlampi R, Hänninen ML. Survival of *Campylobacter jejuni* on various fresh produce. Int J Food Microbiol 2004;97:187-95.

Kärenlampi R, Rautelin H, Schönberg-Norio D, Paulin L, Hänninen ML. Longitudinal study of Finnish *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* isolates from humans, using multilocus sequence typing, including comparison with epidemiological data and isolates from poultry and cattle. Appl Environ Microbiol 2007;73:148-55.

Laine J, Huovinen E, Virtanen MJ, Snellman M, Lumio J, Ruutu P, Kujansuu E, Vuento R, Pitkänen T, Miettinen I, Herrala J, Lepistö O, Antonen J, Helenius J, Hänninen ML, Maunula L, Mustonen J, Kuusi M. An extensive gastroenteritis outbreak after drinking-water contamination by sewage effluent, Finland. Epidemiol Infect 2010:1-9.

Lara-Tejero M, Galán JE. CdtA, CdtB, and CdtC form a tripartite complex that is required for cytolethal distending toxin activity. Infect Immun 2001;69:4358-65.

Lastovica AJ, le Roux E. Efficient isolation of campylobacteria from stools. J Clin Microbiol 2000;38:2798-9.

Lastovica AJ, Allos BM. Clinical significance of *Campylobacter* and related species other than *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*, 3rd ed. 2008. ASM Press, Washington, DC. p. 123-149.

Lee A, O'Rourke JL, Barrington PJ, Trust TJ. Mucus colonization as a determinant of pathogenicity in intestinal infection by *Campylobacter jejuni*: a mouse cecal model. Infect Immun 1986;51:536-46.

Lefébure T, Stanhope MJ. Pervasive, genome-wide positive selection leading to functional divergence in the bacterial genus *Campylobacter*. Genome Res 2009;19:1224-32.

Lehner A, Schneck C, Feierl G, Pless P, Deutz A, Brandl E, Wagner M. Epidemiologic application of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis to an outbreak of *Campylobacter jejuni* in an Austrian youth centre. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125:13-6.

Lehtopolku M, Nakari UM, Kotilainen P, Huovinen P, Siitonen A, Hakanen AJ. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of multidrug-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* strains: in vitro activities of 20 antimicrobial agents. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2010;54:1232-6.

Lévesque S, Frost E, Arbeit RD, Michaud S. Multilocus sequence typing of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from humans, chickens, raw milk, and environmental water in Quebec, Canada. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46:3404-11.

Linton D, Lawson AJ, Owen RJ, Stanley J. PCR detection, identification to species level, and fingerprinting of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* direct from diarrheic samples. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35:2568-72.

Linton D. Gilbert M. Hitchen PG. Dell A. Morris HR. Wakarchuk WW. Gregson NA. Wren BW. Phase variation of a beta-1,3 galactosyltransferase involved in generation of the ganglioside GM1-like lipo-oligosaccharide of *Campylobacter jejuni*. Mol Microbiol 2000;37:501-14, 2000.
Lior H, Woodward DL, Edgar JA, Laroche LJ, Gill P. Serotyping of *Campylobacter jejuni* by slide agglutination based on heat-labile antigenic factors. J Clin Microbiol 1982;15:761-8.

Locht H, Krogfelt KA. Comparison of rheumatological and gastrointestinal symptoms after infection with *Campylobacter jejuni/coli* and enterotoxigenic *Escherichia coli*. Ann Rheum Dis 2002;61:448-52.

Louwen RP, van Belkum A, Wagenaar JA, Doorduyn Y, Achterberg R, Endtz HP. Lack of association between the presence of the pVir plasmid and bloody diarrhea in *Campylobacter jejuni* enteritis. J Clin Microbiol 2006;44:1867-8.

Louwen R, Heikema A, van Belkum A, Ott A, Gilbert M, Ang W, Endtz HP, Bergman MP, Nieuwenhuis EE. The sialylated lipooligosaccharide outer core in *Campylobacter jejuni* is an important determinant for epithelial cell invasion. Infect Immun 2008;76:4431-8.

Luber P, Bartelt E, Genschow E, Wagner J, Hahn H. Comparison of broth microdilution, E Test, and agar dilution methods for antibiotic susceptibility testing of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. J Clin Microbiol 2003;41:1062-8.

Luo N, Pereira S, Sahin O, Lin J, Huang S, Michel L, Zhang Q. Enhanced in vivo fitness of fluoroquinolone-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* in the absence of antibiotic selection pressure. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:541-6.

Maiden MC, Bygraves JA, Feil E, Morelli G, Russell JE, Urwin R, Zhang Q, Zhou J, Zurth K, Caugant DA, Feavers IM, Achtman M, Spratt BG. Multilocus sequence typing: a portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:3140-5.

Mandal BK, Ellis ME, Dunbar EM, Whale K. Double-blind placebo-controlled trial of erythromycin in the treatment of clinical campylobacter infection. J Antimicrob Chemother 1984;13:619-23.

Martiny D, Dediste A, Debruyne L, Vlaes L, Haddou NB, Vandamme P, Vandenberg O. Accuracy of the API Campy system, the Vitek 2 *Neisseria-Haemophilus* card and matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry for the identification of *Campylobacter* and related organisms. Clin Microbiol Infect 2011;17:1001-6.

McCarthy N, Giesecke J. Incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome following infection with *Campylobacter jejuni*. Am J Epidemiol 2001;153:610-4.

McDermott PF, Bodeis SM, Aarestrup FM, Brown S, Traczewski M, Fedorka-Cray P, Wallace M, Critchley IA, Thornsberry C, Graff S, Flamm R, Beyer J, Shortridge D, Piddock LJ, Ricci V, Johnson MM, Jones RN, Reller B, Mirrett S, Aldrobi J, Rennie R, Brosnikoff C, Turnbull L, Stein G, Schooley S, Hanson RA, Walker RD. Development of a standardized susceptibility test for campylobacter with quality-control ranges for ciprofloxacin, doxycycline, erythromycin, gentamicin, and meropenem. Microb Drug Resist 2004;10:124-31.

McNulty CA. The treatment of campylobacter infections in man. J Antimicrob Chemother 1987;19:281-4.

Mégraud F, Boudraa G, Bessaoud K, Bensid S, Dabis F, Soltana R, Touhami M. Incidence of *Campylobacter* infection in infants in western Algeria and the possible protective role of breast feeding. Epidemiol Infect 1990;105:73-8.

Meinersmann RJ, Helsel LO, Fields PI, Hiett KL. Discrimination of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates by fla gene sequencing. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35:2810-4.

Mentzing LO. Waterborne outbreaks of campylobacter enteritis in central Sweden. Lancet 1981;2:352-4.

Miller G, Dunn GM, Reid TM, Ogden ID, Strachan NJ. Does age acquired immunity confer selective protection to common serotypes of *Campylobacter jejuni*?. BMC Infect Dis 2005;5:66.

Mishu B, Ilyas AA, Koski CL, Vriesendorp F, Cook SD, Mithen FA, Blaser MJ. Serologic evidence of previous *Campylobacter jejuni* infection in patients with the Guillain-Barré syndrome. Ann Intern Med 1993;118:947-53.

Moll H. Dendritic cells and host resistance to infection. Cell Microbiol 2003;5:493-500.

Molnar GK, Mertsola J, Erkko M. Guillain-Barré syndrome associated with campylobacter infection. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982;285:652.

Monselise A, Blickstein D, Ostfeld I, Segal R, Weinberger M. A case of cellulitis complicating *Campylobacter jejuni* subspecies jejuni bacteremia and review of the literature. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2004;23:718-21.

Murphy GS Jr, Echeverria P, Jackson LR, Arness MK, LeBron C, Pitarangsi C. Ciprofloxacinand azithromycin-resistant *Campylobacter* causing traveler's diarrhea in U.S. troops deployed to Thailand in 1994. Clin Infect Dis 1996;22:868-9.

Nachamkin I, Bohachick K, Patton CM. Flagellin gene typing of *Campylobacter jejuni* by restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis. J Clin Microbiol 1993a;31:1531-6.

Nachamkin I, Yang XH, Stern NJ. Role of *Campylobacter jejuni* flagella as colonization factors for three-day-old chicks: analysis with flagellar mutants. Appl Environ Microbiol 1993b;59:1269-73.

Naikare H, Palyada K, Panciera R, Marlow D, Stintzi A. Major role for FeoB in *Campylobacter jejuni* ferrous iron acquisition, gut colonization, and intracellular survival. Infect Immun 2006;74:5433-44.

Nakari UM, Puhakka A, Siitonen A. Correct identification and discrimination between *Campylobacter jejuni* and *C. coli* by a standardized hippurate test and species-specific polymerase chain reaction. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2008;27:513-8.

Neal KR, Slack RC. The autumn peak in campylobacter gastro-enteritis. Are the risk factors the same for travel- and UK-acquired campylobacter infections? J Public Health Med 1995;17:98-102.

Neal KR, Slack RC. Diabetes mellitus, anti-secretory drugs and other risk factors for campylobacter gastro-enteritis in adults: a case-control study. Epidemiol Infect 1997;119:307-11.

Nelson JM, Smith KE, Vugia DJ, Rabatsky-Ehr T, Segler SD, Kassenborg HD, Zansky SM, Joyce K, Marano N, Hoekstra RM, Angulo FJ. Prolonged diarrhea due to ciprofloxacin-resistant campylobacter infection. J Infect Dis 2004;190:1150-7.

Nielsen H, Hansen KK, Gradel KO, Kristensen B, Ejlertsen T, Østergaard C, Schønheyder HC. Bacteraemia as a result of *Campylobacter* species: a population-based study of epidemiology and clinical risk factors. Clin Microbiol Infect 2010a;16:57-61.

Nielsen H, Persson S, Olsen KE, Ejlertsen T, Kristensen B, Schønheyder HC. Bacteraemia with *Campylobacter jejuni*: no association with the virulence genes *iam*, *cdt*B, *cap*A or *vir*B. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis 2010b;29:357-8.

Olsen SJ, Hansen GR, Bartlett L, Fitzgerald C, Sonder A, Manjrekar R, Riggs T, Kim J, Flahart R, Pezzino G, Swerdlow DL. An outbreak of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections associated with food handler contamination: the use of pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J Infect Dis 2001;183:164-7.

Olson CK, Ethelberg S, van Pelt W, Tauxe RV. Epidemiology of *Campylobacter jejuni* infections in industrialized nations. In: Nachamkin I, Szymanski CM, Blaser MJ, editors. *Campylobacter*, 3rd ed. 2008. ASM Press, Washington, DC. p. 163-189.

Pacanowski J, Lalande V, Lacombe K, Boudraa C, Lesprit P, Legrand P, Trystram D, Kassis N, Arlet G, Mainardi JL, Doucet-Populaire F, Girard PM, Meynard JL. *Campylobacter* bacteremia: clinical features and factors associated with fatal outcome. Clin Infect Dis 2008;47:790-6.

Palmer SR, Gully PR, White JM, Pearson AD, Suckling WG, Jones DM, Rawes JC, Penner JL. Water-borne outbreak of campylobacter gastroenteritis. Lancet 1983;1:287-90.

Parker CT, Horn ST, Gilbert M, Miller WG, Woodward DL, Mandrell RE. Comparison of *Campylobacter jejuni* lipooligosaccharide biosynthesis loci from a variety of sources. J Clin Microbiol 2005;43:2771-81.

Parkhill J, Wren BW, Mungall K, Ketley JM, Churcher C, Basham D, Chillingworth T, Davies RM, Feltwell T, Holroyd S, Jagels K, Karlyshev AV, Moule S, Pallen MJ, Penn CW, Quail MA, Rajandream MA, Rutherford KM, van Vliet AH, Whitehead S, Barrell BG. The genome sequence of the food-borne pathogen *Campylobacter jejuni* reveals hypervariable sequences. Nature 2000;403:665-8.

Pei Z, Burucoa C, Grignon B, Baqar S, Huang XZ, Kopecko DJ, Bourgeois AL, Fauchere JL, Blaser MJ. Mutation in the peb1A locus of *Campylobacter jejuni* reduces interactions with epithelial cells and intestinal colonization of mice. Infect Immun 1998;66:938-43.

Penner JL, Hennessy JN. Passive hemagglutination technique for serotyping *Campylobacter fetus* subsp. *jejuni* on the basis of soluble heat-stable antigens. J Clin Microbiol 1980;12:732-7.

Pigrau C, Bartolome R, Almirante B, Planes AM, Gavalda J, Pahissa A. Bacteremia due to *Campylobacter* species: clinical findings and antimicrobial susceptibility patterns. Clin Infect Dis 1997;25:1414-20.

Rathinam VA, Appledorn DM, Hoag KA, Amalfitano A, Mansfield LS. *Campylobacter jejuni*induced activation of dendritic cells involves cooperative signaling through Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-MyD88 and TLR4-TRIF axes. Infect Immun 2009;77:2499-507.

Rautelin HI, Kosunen TU. *Campylobacter* etiology in human gastroenteritis demonstrated by antibodies to acid extract antigen. J Clin Microbiol 1987;25:1944-51.

Rautelin H, Koota K, von Essen R, Jahkola M, Siitonen A, Kosunen TU. Waterborne *Campylobacter jejuni* epidemic in a Finnish hospital for rheumatic diseases. Scand J Infect Dis 1990;22:321-6.

Rautelin H, Renkonen OV, Kosunen TU. Emergence of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* in subjects from Finland. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1991;35:2065-9.

Rautelin H, Jusufovic J, Hänninen ML. Identification of hippurate-negative thermophilic campylobacters. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 1999;35:9-12.

Rautelin H, Hänninen ML. Campylobacters: the most common bacterial enteropathogens in the Nordic countries. Ann Med 2000;32:440-5.

Rautelin H, Vierikko A, Hänninen ML, Vaara M. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Campylobacter* strains isolated from Finnish subjects infected domestically or from those infected abroad. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003;47:102-5.

Reed RP, Friedland IR, Wegerhoff FO, Khoosal M. *Campylobacter* bacteremia in children. Pediatr Infect Dis J 1996;15:345-8.

Rees JH, Soudain SE, Gregson NA, Hughes RA. *Campylobacter jejuni* infection and Guillain-Barre syndrome. N Engl J Med 1995;333:1374-9.

Reina J, Ros MJ, Serra A. Susceptibilities to 10 antimicrobial agents of 1,220 *Campylobacter* strains isolated from 1987 to 1993 from feces of pediatric patients. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1994;38:2917-20.

Rhodes KM, Tattersfield AE. Guillain-Barre syndrome associated with *Campylobacter* infection. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1982;285:173-4.

Richardson PT, Park SF. Enterochelin acquisition in *Campylobacter coli*: characterization of components of a binding-protein-dependent transport system. Microbiology 1995;141:3181-91.

Ridley KA, Rock JD, Li Y, Ketley JM. Heme utilization in *Campylobacter jejuni*. J Bacteriol 2006;188:7862-75.

Rivera-Amill V, Kim BJ, Seshu J, Konkel ME. Secretion of the virulence-associated *Campylobacter* invasion antigens from *Campylobacter jejuni* requires a stimulatory signal. J Infect Dis 2001;183:1607-16.

Roberts JA, Cumberland P, Sockett PN, Wheeler J, Rodrigues LC, Sethi D, Roderick PJ. The study of infectious intestinal disease in England: socio-economic impact. Epidemiol Infect 2003;130:1-11.

Robinson DA, Jones DM. Milk-borne campylobacter infection. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1981;282:1374-6.

Robinson DA. Infective dose of *Campylobacter jejuni* in milk. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed) 1981;282:1584.

Rodríguez LA, Ruigómez A. Increased risk of irritable bowel syndrome after bacterial gastroenteritis: cohort study. BMJ 1999;318:565-6.

Rollins DM, Colwell RR. Viable but nonculturable stage of *Campylobacter jejuni* and its role in survival in the natural aquatic environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 1986;52:531-8.

Rönner AC, Engvall EO, Andersson L, Kaijser B. Species identification by genotyping and determination of antibiotic resistance in *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* from humans and chickens in Sweden. Int J Food Microbiol 2004;96:173-9.

Salazar-Lindo E, Sack RB, Chea-Woo E, Kay BA, Piscoya ZA, Leon-Barua R, Yi A. Early treatment with erythromycin of *Campylobacter jejuni*-associated dysentery in children. J Pediatr 1986;109:355-50.

Samuel MC, Vugia DJ, Shallow S, Marcus R, Segler S, McGivern T, Kassenborg H, Reilly K, Kennedy M, Angulo F, Tauxe RV. Emerging Infections Program FoodNet Working Group. Epidemiology of sporadic *Campylobacter* infection in the United States and declining trend in incidence, FoodNet 1996-1999. Clin Infect Dis 2004;38:S165-74.

Schildt M, Savolainen S, Hänninen ML. Long-lasting *Campylobacter jejuni* contamination of milk associated with gastrointestinal illness in a farming family. Epidemiol Infect 2006;134:401-5.

Schmidt U, Chmel H, Kaminski Z, Sen P. The clinical spectrum of *Campylobacter fetus* infections: report of five cases and review of the literature. Q J Med 1980;49:431-42.

Schönberg-Norio D, Takkinen J, Hänninen ML, Katila ML, Kaukoranta SS, Mattila L, Rautelin H. Swimming and *Campylobacter* infections. Emerg Infect Dis 2004;10:1474-7.

Schönberg-Norio D, Hänninen ML, Katila ML, Kaukoranta SS, Koskela M, Eerola E, Uksila J, Pajarre S, Rautelin H. Activities of telithromycin, erythromycin, fluoroquinolones, and

doxycycline against *Campylobacter* strains isolated from Finnish subjects. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2006;50:1086-8.

Schönberg-Norio D, Mattila L, Lauhio A, Katila ML, Kaukoranta SS, Koskela M, Pajarre S, Uksila J, Eerola E, Sarna S, Rautelin H. Patient-reported complications associated with *Campylobacter jejuni* infection. Epidemiol Infect 2010;138:1004-11.

Schønheyder HC, Søgaard P, Frederiksen W. A survey of *Campylobacter* bacteremia in three Danish counties, 1989 to 1994. Scand J Infect Dis 1995;27:145-8.

Sebald M, Véron M. Teneur en bases de l'AND et classification des vibrions. Ann Inst Pasteur (Paris) 1963;105:897-910.

Shibayama K, Kamachi K, Nagata N, Yagi T, Nada T, Doi Y, Shibata N, Yokoyama K, Yamane K, Kato H, Iinuma Y, Arakawa Y. A novel apoptosis-inducing protein from *Helicobacter pylori*. Mol Microbiol 2003;47:443-51.

Siemer BL, Nielsen EM, On SL. Identification and molecular epidemiology of *Campylobacter coli* isolates from human gastroenteritis, food, and animal sources by amplified fragment length polymorphism analysis and Penner serotyping. Appl Environ Microbiol 2005;71:1953-8.

Skirrow MB. Campylobacter enteritis: a "new" disease. Br Med J 1977;2:9-11.

Skirrow MB, Jones DM, Sutcliffe E, Benjamin J. *Campylobacter* bacteraemia in England and Wales, 1981-91. Epidemiol Infect 1993;110:567-73.

Smith KE, Besser JM, Hedberg CW, Leano FT, Bender JB, Wicklund JH, Johnson BP, Moore KA, Osterholm MT. Quinolone-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* infections in Minnesota, 1992-1998. N Engl J Med 1999;340:1525-32.

Snelling WJ, Matsuda M, Moore JE, Dooley JS. *Campylobacter jejuni*. Lett Appl Microbiol 2005;41:297-302.

Spiller RC. Role of infection in irritable bowel syndrome. J Gastroenterol 2007;42:41-7.

Stahl M, Friis LM, Nothaft H, Liu X, Li J, Szymanski CM, Stintzi A. L-fucose utilization provides *Campylobacter jejuni* with a competitive advantage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:7194-9.

Strachan NJ, Watson RO, Novik V, Hofreuter D, Ogden ID, Galán JE. Sexual dimorphism in campylobacteriosis. Epidemiol Infect 2008;136:1492-5.

Strid MA, Engberg J, Larsen LB, Begtrup K, Mølbak K, Krogfelt KA. Antibody responses to *Campylobacter* infections determined by an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay: 2-year follow-up study of 210 patients. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 2001;8:314-9.

Studahl A, Andersson Y. Risk factors for indigenous campylobacter infection: a Swedish casecontrol study. Epidemiol Infect 2000;125:269-75. Talukder KA, Aslam M, Islam Z, Azmi IJ, Dutta DK, Hossain S, Nur-E-Kamal A, Nair GB, Cravioto A, Sack DA, Endtz HP. Prevalence of virulence genes and cytolethal distending toxin production in *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from diarrheal patients in Bangladesh. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46:1485-8.

Tam CC, Rodrigues LC, Petersen I, Islam A, Hayward A, O'Brien SJ. Incidence of Guillain-Barré syndrome among patients with *Campylobacter* infection: a general practice research database study. J Infect Dis 2006;194:95-7.

Tam CC, Higgins CD, Neal KR, Rodrigues LC, Millership SE, O'Brien SJ. Campylobacter Case-Control Study Group. Chicken consumption and use of acid-suppressing medications as risk factors for *Campylobacter* enteritis, England. Emerg Infect Dis 2009;15:1402-8.

Taylor BV, Williamson J, Luck J, Coleman D, Jones D, McGregor A. Sensitivity and specificity of serology in determining recent acute *Campylobacter* infection. Intern Med J 2004;34:250-8.

Tee W, Mijch A. *Campylobacter jejuni* bacteremia in human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)infected and non-HIV-infected patients: comparison of clinical features and review. Clin Infect Dis 1998;26:91-6.

Tenkate TD, Stafford RJ. Risk factors for campylobacter infection in infants and young children: a matched case-control study. Epidemiol Infect 2001;127:399-404.

Ternhag A, Asikainen T, Giesecke J, Ekdahl K. A meta-analysis on the effects of antibiotic treatment on duration of symptoms caused by infection with *Campylobacter* species. Clin Infect Dis 2007;44:696-700.

Thakur S, White DG, McDermott PF, Zhao S, Kroft B, Gebreyes W, Abbott J, Cullen P, English L, Carter P, Harbottle H. Genotyping of *Campylobacter coli* isolated from humans and retail meats using multilocus sequence typing and pulsed-field gel electrophoresis. J Appl Microbiol 2009;106:1722-33.

Tissari P, Rautelin H. Evaluation of an enzyme immunoassay-based stool antigen test to detect *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli*. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2007;58:171-5.

Totten PA, Patton CM, Tenover FC, Barrett TJ, Stamm WE, Steigerwalt AG, Lin JY, Holmes KK, Brenner DJ. Prevalence and characterization of hippurate-negative *Campylobacter jejuni* in King County, Washington. J Clin Microbiol 1987;25:1747-52.

Tracz DM, Keelan M, Ahmed-Bentley J, Gibreel A, Kowalewska-Grochowska K, Taylor DE. pVir and bloody diarrhea in *Campylobacter jejuni* enteritis. Emerg Infect Dis 2005;11:838-43.

Unicomb LE, Ferguson J, Stafford RJ, Ashbolt R, Kirk MD, Becker NG, Patel MS, Gilbert GL, Valcanis M, Mickan L. Low-level fluoroquinolone resistance among *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates in Australia. Clin Infect Dis 2006;42:1368-74.

Véron M, Chatelain R. Taxonomic study of the genus *Campylobacter* Sebald and Véron and designation of the neotype strain for the type species *Campylobacter fetus* (Smith and Taylor) sebald and Véron. Int J Syst Bact 1973;122-134.

Vinzent R, Dumas J, Picard N. Septicémie grave au cours de la grossessedue à un Vibrion. Avortement consécutif. Bull Acad Nat Med Paris 1947;131:90-2.

Wagner J, Jabbusch M, Eisenblatter M, Hahn H, Wendt C, Ignatius R. Susceptibilities of *Campylobacter jejuni* isolates from Germany to ciprofloxacin, moxifloxacin, erythromycin, clindamycin, and tetracycline. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 2003;47:2358-61.

Wang Y, Huang WM, Taylor DE. Cloning and nucleotide sequence of the *Campylobacter jejuni* gyrA gene and characterization of quinolone resistance mutations. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1993;37:457-63.

Wassenaar TM, Newell DG. Genotyping of *Campylobacter* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol 2000;66:1-9.

Wassenaar TM, Kist M, de Jong A. Re-analysis of the risks attributed to ciprofloxacin-resistant *Campylobacter jejuni* infections. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2007;30:195-201.

Wheeler JG, Sethi D, Cowden JM, Wall PG, Rodrigues LC, Tompkins DS, Hudson MJ, Roderick PJ. Study of infectious intestinal disease in England: rates in the community, presenting to general practice, and reported to national surveillance. The Infectious Intestinal Disease Study Executive. BMJ 1999;318:1046-50.

Williams MD, Schorling JB, Barrett LJ, Dudley SM, Orgel I, Koch WC, Shields DS, Thorson SM, Lohr JA, Guerrant RL. Early treatment of *Campylobacter jejuni* enteritis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother 1989;33:248-50.

Wilson DJ, Gabriel E, Leatherbarrow AJ, Cheesbrough J, Gee S, Bolton E, Fox A, Fearnhead P, Hart CA, Diggle PJ. Tracing the source of campylobacteriosis. PLoS Genet 2008;4:e1000203.

Wilson DJ, Gabriel E, Leatherbarrow AJ, Cheesbrough J, Gee S, Bolton E, Fox A, Hart CA, Diggle PJ, Fearnhead P. Rapid evolution and the importance of recombination to the gastroenteric pathogen *Campylobacter jejuni*. Mol Biol Evol 2009;26:385-97.

Yan W, Chang N, Taylor DE. Pulsed-field gel electrophoresis of *Campylobacter jejuni* and *Campylobacter coli* genomic DNA and its epidemiologic application. J Infect Dis 1991;163:1068-72.

Yao R, Burr DH, Guerry P. CheY-mediated modulation of *Campylobacter jejuni* virulence. Mol Microbiol 1997;23:1021-31.

Yuki N, Susuki K, Koga M, Nishimoto Y, Odaka M, Hirata K, Taguchi K, Miyatake T, Furukawa K, Kobata T, Yamada M. Carbohydrate mimicry between human ganglioside GM1 and *Campylobacter jejuni* lipooligosaccharide causes Guillain-Barré syndrome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2004;101:11404-9.

Ziprin RL, Young CR, Byrd JA, Stanker LH, Hume ME, Gray SA, Kim BJ, Konkel ME. Role of *Campylobacter jejuni* potential virulence genes in cecal colonization. Avian Dis 2001;45:549-57.

Zeitouni S, Kempf I. Fitness cost of fluoroquinolone resistance in *Campylobacter coli* and *Campylobacter jejuni*. Microb Drug Resist 2011;17:171-9.

9. Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Department of Bacteriology and Immunology, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki during 2006 to 2011. Funding, gratefully acknowledged, was provided by the Academy of Finland, ELVIRA project.

I am deeply grateful to my supervisor Professor Hilpi Rautelin for always having the time and will to aid, support, and guide me through one phase of this project after another. Her enthusiasm and motivating attitude are traits that I admire, and I appreciate having had the chance to work in her research group.

I thank Professor Seppo Meri, the former Head of Haartman Institute, for the opportunity to work in these exemplary scientific surroundings.

I warmly thank the reviewers of this thesis: Docent Heikki Kauma and Docent Risto Vuento for their expert comments and rapid responses.

I am sincerely grateful to Professor Marja-Liisa Hänninen for her help and instructive comments, to Professor Seppo Sarna for his aid with statistics, to Docent Anneli Lauhio for sharing her expertise in infectious diseases, to Patrik Ellström for his tutoring and friendship, to Astrid de Haan for performing the MLST and keeping me on track, to Heidi Hyytiäinen for cooperation and the PFGE analyses, and to Anna Nilsson and Marko Haverinen for their excellent laboratory assistance. Further, Patrik and Anna are especially acknowledged for their enormous efforts in performing PCR and serum sensitivity assays.

I thank Professor Mikael Skurnik for his friendly advice as well as for the calm and friendly atmosphere at the Department.

I thank Professor Petri Ruutu and Mikko Virtanen at the National Institute for Health and Welfare for smooth cooperation, the personnel in all the microbiological laboratories across the country for sending us the bacteremia isolates, and all the nice and helpful people working in the hospital archives for their efficient and precise work.

I warmly thank my other scientist friends for their kind support: Daniela Schönberg-Norio and Emeritus Associate Professor Timo Kosunen for their practical advice and encouragement, and my friends and colleagues Daniel Gordin, Joakim Janér, and Erik Litonius for all the scientifically relevant discussions over lunches at Unicafé Meilahti.

Many thanks to all of my friends for all the good times; let's keep them rolling! Specific acknowledgements to my "personal trainers" Björn von Alfthan and Fredrik Zitting for getting me off my couch now and then, and to Kim Forsberg for his help in moving it to where it now stands, as well as for trying to teach me how computers work.

I am grateful to my father-in-law Jukka and mother-in-law Tarja for all their practical advice, aid, and care.

I thank all in my family for their continuous love and support, and I warmly acknowledge my sisters Nicolina and Nina for all the action and connection throughout the years, my father Thomas for showing trust in my decisions, my grandfather Yrjö for sharing his wisdom and for his genuine interest, and my mother Marina for always believing in me.

I am not able to express enough affection and appreciation to our beloved children Anton and Livia - you fill my days with joy, and hearing your laughter erases all mundane worries. Also, cheers to all your grandparents for looking after you when needed; special thanks to Tarja for the numerous home-cooked, and child-friendly, meals brought along!

Finally, my deepest loving thanks to Maija, who stands beside me, always encourages me, and helps me to grasp happiness. I owe a considerable part of the fulfillment of this work to you, my love.

Espoo, March 2012

Benjamin Feodoroff